
Democratic Services Contact Officer: 03450 450 500 Democratic.Services@scambs.gov.uk 

15 March 2019

To: Chairman - Councillor Pippa Heylings
Vice-Chairman – Councillor Dr. Martin Cahn

Members of the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee – Councillors 
Sue Ellington, Peter Fane, Jose Hales, Peter McDonald and Nick Wright

Dear Sir / Madam

You are invited to attend the next meeting of the CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE, which will be held in the MONKFIELD ROOM at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
MONDAY, 25 MARCH 2019 at 3.00 p.m.

Yours faithfully

Mike Hill
Interim Chief Executive

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to its 
agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any 

specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you

AGENDA
PAGES

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 1 - 4
To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2019 as a 
correct record.

4. Chairman's Report 
Oral report to include Zero Carbon Future Conference and development 
of a Climate Strategy.

5. Bourn Airfield Planning Application 5 - 8
To provide an opportunity for the developer (Countryside Properties) to 
inform the Committee regarding how their proposals mitigate climate 
change and address excellence in sustainable development, and provide 
the Committee with an opportunity to ask questions and comment.

6. SCDC Investment in Green Energy - Update 9 - 62
To provide an update and note progress.

7. Cambridge and South Cambs Tree Planting Proposal 63 - 64
To consider the proposal, discuss and seek the Committee’s support for 
the proposal.

South Cambridgeshire Hall
Cambourne Business Park
Cambourne
Cambridge
CB23 6EA

t: 03450 450 500
f: 01954 713149
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15
minicom: 01480 376743
www.scambs.gov.uk



8. Forward Plan: May 2019 
 Investment in Green Energy Progress Report
 Home Energy Conservation Act: 2019 Update
 Draft Bourn Airfield Supplementary Planning Document
 Waste water and flood risk management

9. Dates of Next Meetings 
Members are asked to bring their diaries.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee held on
Monday, 4 February 2019 at 3.00 p.m.

Chairman: Pippa Heylings
Vice-Chairman: Dr. Martin Cahn

Committee Members in attendance:
Sue Ellington
Peter Fane
Peter McDonald
Nick Wright

Councillors in attendance:
Neil Gough, Geoff Harvey and Dr. Tumi Hawkins

Officers:
Patrick Adams Senior Democratic Services Officer
Gemma Barron Head of Sustainable Communities and Wellbeing
Philip Bird Business Improvement & Efficiency Manager
Mike Hill Director of Housing and Environmental Services
Mike Huntington Principal Planning Officer
Kevin Ledger Revenues and Benefits Support Officer
Siobhan Mellon Development Officer
Trevor Nicoll Head of Waste Resources
Katherine Southwood Project Officer

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

None.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 28 November was agreed as a correct 
record, subject to the inclusion of the following text at the end of minute 7:
“The Committee

RECOMMENDED TO CABINET

A) The inclusion of high level guidance on biodiversity, including links to the 
Developing Nature Toolkit in the proposed new Greater Cambridge Sustainable 
Design and Construction SPD;

B) The production of a Greater Cambridge Biodiversity SPD to provide more detailed 
guidance; and

C) The development of a mandatory net gain policy as part of the Greater Cambridge 
Local Plan.”

4. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chairman updated the Committee on the Business Plan 2019 to 2024, which was 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Climate and Environment Advisory Committee Monday, 4 February 2019

going to Cabinet later in the week, and provided details on the next steps for the zero 
carbon target, including carbon budgeting. It was noted that there was cross party support 
for these initiatives.

The Chairman announced that the Council would be recruiting a Climate Change Officer, 
with the advert going out this month. A Green Energy Investment Officer would also be 
recruited in the next municipal year, providing the budget was agreed. It was further noted 
that there were plans to recruit a Communications Officer who would promote recycling 
and the reduction of waste. This post would be financed through the reduction in the 
charges levied on the authority for the amount of waste going to landfill and the increased 
income through the amount of waste recycled.

It was noted that a zero carbon future conference would be held in May.

5. WATERBEACH NEW TOWN - EASTERN HALF RLW ESTATES

A presentation was given to the Committee by representatives from RLW Estates, Mott 
McDonald and Boyer Planning Consultants.

Energy
It was noted that the plan was for the buildings in east Waterbeach to use less energy, for 
the energy to be supplied efficiently and for renewable energy to be generated onsite.

Modular energy used for heating, was more efficient.

Concern was expressed that the energy company would not pass the efficiency savings 
on to the residents at Waterbeach.

In response to the assertion that compliance with SS/6 was not particularly challenging, it 
was explained that the aim was to provide a 15% reduction in CO2 emissions and a 10% 
reduction was a minimum requirement.

It was noted that there had to be a balance between achieving the greatest reduction in 
CO2 emissions and keeping the housing affordable.

Sustainability
It was noted that with the exception of schools, all non-domestic buildings would have an 
“Excellent” rating. The aim was for one or two buildings to have an “Outstanding” rating, 
which less than 1% of current UK buildings achieve.

It was noted that a minimum 3 Star Rating (out of 5 stars) Home Quality Mark for housing 
would be achieved, but the aspiration was to achieve a 4 rating as the town develops.

It was noted that the aim was to reduce the water usage of all non-domestic buildings by 
25% over the BREEAM baseline figure for building water consumption and to reduce 
domestic water usage to no more than 110 litres per person per day. Rainwater harvesting 
would be used to meet these targets.

Flood risk
It was noted that the historical records from the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment showed 
that the site has never flooded. An assessment had been carried out to anticipate 
increased flood risk due to climate change. To mitigate risk, Bannold Drain would be 
widened and the ground would be raised. In response to questioning, it was stated that an 
extra charge would not be levied on residents of the new development by the Internal 
Drainage Board.

Page 2



Climate and Environment Advisory Committee Monday, 4 February 2019

Air quality
The Principal Planning Officer agreed to provide information to the Committee on air 
quality at a later date.

The Chairman thanked the representatives from RLW Estates, Mott McDonald and Boyer 
Planning Consultants for their informative presentation.

6. SUSTAINABLE PARISH ENERGY PARTNERSHIP (SPEP) REVIEW AND DRAFT 
ACTION PLAN

The Development Officer updated the Committee on the Sustainable Parish Energy 
Partnership (SPEP) and recommended that the Council should set up a Zero Carbon 
grant scheme.

The Committee supported the rolling over of funds in the Community Energy Fund budget 
to next year. 

After a brief discussion, the Committee agreed that the Council needed to re-consider the 
percentage of match funding required from applicants, as 100% match funding may prove 
difficult for many parish councils.

The Committee discussed the need to fund projects in the District, which could effectively 
reduce carbon emissions, whilst being able to use the money available to fund as many 
projects as possible. It was agreed that the proposed maximum of £10,000 per project 
should be increased to £15,000. 

The Committee

NOTED the proposals for supporting SPEP.

The Committee unanimously

RECOMMENDED TO CABINET

A) That a Zero Carbon grant scheme be set up to support community-level activities 
which speed up the shift to zero carbon emissions.

B) That the £36,229 in the 2018-19 budget for the Community Energy Fund be rolled 
over to the 2019-20 budget.

C) That a maximum of £15,000 per project be agreed.

7. HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT: DRAFT 2019 UPDATE

The Development Officer presented this report on energy performance of homes in the 
District and invited members of the Committee to comment on the first draft of the 2019 
Home Energy Conservation Act report.

It was hoped that the Council could find ways to liaise with private landlords and tenants 
on the Domestic Private Rented Sector Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards. The issue 
of improving energy performance in the District’s many listed building was also highlighted 
and it was hoped ways could be found to help property owners on this.

It was noted that energy use for heat and power in housing resulted in significant carbon 

Page 3



Climate and Environment Advisory Committee Monday, 4 February 2019

emissions. The Committee proposed that information be compiled on the energy 
performance of the Council’s housing stock and the potential for further improvements.

The Committee unanimously

RECOMMENDED that the Council consider commissioning a study into the potential 
for energy improvements in private housing stock in the District to 
inform potential collaboration with installers with access to Energy 
Company Obligation funding.

8. SCDC INVESTMENT IN GREEN ENERGY - UPDATE

The Policy and Performance Officer introduced this report, which updated the Committee 
on the Council’s investment in Green Energy, including at the Waterbeach Depot and 
South Cambridgeshire Hall.

Waterbeach Depot Solar Installation
It was noted that without the feed-in-tariff as an incomed stream, payback of the 
installation had been calculated as 11 years. A decision from UK Power Networks was 
imminent.

The installation of charge points for electric cars was also being considered.

South Cambridgeshire Hall assessment
The Policy and Performance Officer offered to distribute the assessment by an external 
agency on the different options available for investing in green energy.

Energy saving initiatives
The Policy and Performance Officer explained that other energy saving initiatives such as 
converting to LED lights for street lighting and greater promotion of car sharing were also 
being investigated.

The Committee NOTED the report.

9. FORWARD PLAN

This was noted.

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

It was noted that the next meeting would take place on Monday 25 March 2019 at 3pm in 
the Monkfield Room.

The Meeting ended at 5.15 p.m.

Page 4



REPORT TO: Climate & Environment Advisory 
Committee

25 March 2019

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: Aidan Van de Weyer

LEAD OFFICER: Stephen Kelly – Joint Director of Planning and New 
Communities 

New Village at Bourn Airfield

1. The District Council have received a planning application for the redevelopment of 
Bourn Airfield. This proposal seeks permission for approximately 3,500 dwellings, 
business, retail, community, leisure and sports uses; new primary and secondary 
schools; public open spaces including parks and ecological areas; points of access; 
associated drainage and other infrastructure, groundworks, landscaping and highway 
works.

2. The proposal is for the strategic allocation for Bourn new village as set out in Policy 
SS/7 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. A Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) is currently being prepared to provide further guidance 
and detail on the implementation of Policy SS/7. 

3. Policy SS/7 paragraph 3 requires that the new village will deliver an example of 
excellence in sustainable development and healthier living, making a significant 
contribution to the long term development needs of the Cambridge area. 

4. Policy SS/7 paragraph 9 requires the new village to incorporate and deliver 
opportunities to exceed sustainable design and construction standards established by 
the Local Plan. These standards are set out in the following planning policies:-

CC/1 Mitigation and Adaption to Climate Change
CC/3 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments
CC/4 Water Efficiency

5. The site is a former WW2 airfield, and is currently used for a combination of uses, 
including grazing, open storage, and with some existing employment uses. There is 
also still some occasional light aircraft use. The site also includes Bucket Hill 
Plantation.

6. The site is broadly flat on the northern part of the site, and then gently falls towards 
the south, with a shallow valley on the south eastern edge close to the plantation, and 
overall is situated between 54m and 74m above sea level. 

7. There are no major watercourses within the site, but there are various small natural 
and man made ditches that generally flow south towards the Bourn Brook, and these 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



would historically have accepted the natural drainage from the fields and run off from 
the runways.

8. The planning application is accompanied by a sustainability and energy statement.

9. This report is accompanied by an infographic provided by the applicant, setting out 
their broad approach to sustainable design and meeting the challenge of climate 
change.

10. The applicant will be presenting their ideas in more detail at the Committee meeting. 

Report Author: Mike Huntington – Principal Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713180

Page 6



P
age 7



P
age 8



REPORT TO: Climate and Environment Advisory 
Committee

25th March 2019

LEAD OFFICER: Executive Director, Corporate Services 

SCDC INVESTMENT IN GREEN ENERGY - UPDATE

Purpose

1. This report provides the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee with an 
update on South Cambridgeshire District Council’s (SCDC) Green Energy Investment 
programme, including projects at the Waterbeach Depot and South Cambridgeshire 
Hall sites. 

2. As part of this update, the recently completed High Level Assessment for the South 
Cambridgeshire Hall site has been included at Appendix A.

Recommendations

3. The Climate and Environment Advisory Committee is invited to:
(a) Note and comment on the SCDC green energy investment progress detailed 

within this report and its appendices. 

Reasons for Recommendations

4. The above recommendations are required to ensure that the Climate and 
Environment Advisory Committee is updated on progress towards SCDC green 
energy investment. It also provides an opportunity for the Climate and Environment 
Advisory Committee to comment on progress. 

Background

Waterbeach Depot Solar Installation

5. At the Climate and Environment Advisory Committee (CEAC) meeting of 4th February 
2019, it was reported that work had been booked to commence installation of a 30kW 
solar array on the roof of the Waterbeach Depot on the 15th February 2019, following 
receipt and approval of High Level Assessment and Investment Grade Proposal 
documents. This work proceeded and was completed as planned, and handover of 
the installation is due to take place at a meeting scheduled for the 22nd March 2019. 

South Cambridgeshire Hall Site High Level Assessment

6. Since the previous CEAC meeting, Bouygues have completed the High Level 
Assessment (HLA) that was commissioned to investigate options for energy 
investment at the South Cambridgeshire Hall site. A copy is attached at Appendix A.

7. The HLA provides a high level business case for the installation of seven energy 
conservation measures, as listed below:

 Solar carport system
 Ground Source Heat Pump

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 Building Energy Management System (BEMS) renewal
 Air Handling Unit fan upgrades
 Chiller modifications and enhancements
 Internal lighting upgrade to LED
 Electric Vehicle chargers

8. The HLA outlines the minimum expectations for ensuing stages of the project and 
outlines a project capital cost of £1,311,068 for the above work, and a total payback 
period of 13.99 years.

9. Following receipt of the HLA, EMT has provided approval to progress to the 
Investment Grade Proposal (IGP) stage of the project. This will provide a greater level 
of detail and the savings set out within this document will form the basis for the 
Savings Guarantee which exists under Re:fit. Under the Re:fit framework, Bouygues 
are incentivised to at least meet the payback and energy generation figures included 
within the HLA.  

10. The IGP stage will also provide an opportunity to further explore the inclusion of 
additional energy conservation measures within project scope. This could include, for 
example, battery storage and/or a wind turbine, both of which were considered at 
HLA, but excluded within the business case due to the requirement for additional 
investigation in order to clarify technical and commercial uncertainties that currently 
exist.

Street Lighting High Level Assessment

11. Initial meetings have been held with Bouygues to discuss scope for a project to 
upgrade South Cambs Footway Lighting Stock to LED, and to explore the potential to 
use this stock for wider environmental benefits (e.g. by hosting Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points and/or Air Quality Monitoring Stations etc.).  A briefing document for 
this project is currently under development.

Officer Working Group

12. The first meeting of the Climate and Environment Officer Working Group took place 
on 14th February 2019. This group has been established to ensure that knowledge is 
shared throughout the Council’s services and to enable a structured approach to the 
investigation of future green energy investment opportunities. 

13. At this first meeting, representatives from Bouygues delivered a presentation detailing 
their company history, the work that they have delivered in this country and region, 
plus key elements of the Re:fit framework. This allowed officers from across the 
Council to understand the opportunities that exist through the Re:fit framework and 
our partnership with Bouygues.

14. Following the presentation, a workshop took place to gather details of all existing and 
emerging Climate and Environment projects and partnerships that officers are aware 
of or involved in. This will be used at the next Officer Working Group (scheduled for 
10th May) to formulate a work plan for agreement.

Implications

15. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered:-

Page 10



Financial

16. This report is part of a wider piece of work to explore and implement options for the 
investment of funds from SCDC’s Renewables Reserve. This reserve is fed from 
business rates that are retained in relation to renewables sites located within the 
district. To date approximately £2.7 million has been paid into the reserve with only a 
relatively small amount of this committed for spend. As things stand the Renewables 
Reserve will continue to be added to as we retain business rates relating to 
renewable energy sites for the current and future years.

Legal

17. SCDC have signed an agreement with Local Partnerships to gain access to and 
ensure compliance with the Re:fit framework terms. We have also agreed call-off 
terms with Bouygues for the provision of energy services under the Re:fit framework.  

18. Works contracts will be required for any future projects such as the implementation of 
any measures for the South Cambridgeshire Hall site.

Staffing

19. It has been agreed that an Energy Investment Officer post will be created and 
recruited to in order to progress the Green Energy investment agenda, including work 
under Re:fit and further options for direct investment in renewables. A job description 
and person specification is being developed for this role.

Risk Management

20. Risk registers will be completed for each Renewables Reserve investment project 
taken on. 

Equality and Diversity

21. Equality Impact Assessment screening documents will be undertaken for each 
Renewables Reserve investment project so as to ascertain instances where a full 
Equality Impact Assessment is warranted.

Climate Change

22. This report has been developed to provide an update in relation to SCDC’s green 
energy investment programme, which falls within the ‘Being green to our core’ 
Business Plan priority. 

Report Authors: 
Kevin Ledger – Policy and Performance Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713018

Page 11



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

  

South Cambridgeshire District Council 

High Level Assessment 
 

SOUTH CAMBS HALL 

RE:FIT 3 ENERGY PERFORMANCE CONTRACTING FRAMEWORK 

P
age 13

Kevin Ledger
Typewritten Text
Appendix A - South Cambs Hall HLA

Kevin Ledger_1
Typewritten Text

Kevin Ledger_2
Typewritten Text

Kevin Ledger_3
Typewritten Text

Kevin Ledger_4
Typewritten Text

Kevin Ledger_5
Typewritten Text



  

   

s 

 

WELCOME! 

Firstly, thank you for registering your interest in 

the Cambridgeshire RE:FIT Programme! We hope 

that this High Level Assessment meets your 

expectations from joining the programme. 

 

This document provides an overview of the sites we have surveyed, 

highlighting specific challenges at individual sites. You can also find 

generic description of the generic measures that we have proposed 

and the rationale behind the technology.  

 

 

CONTENTS 

Project Brief 

The Development Process 

The High Level Assessment 

High Level Proposal Headlines 

Energy Conservation Measures 

Further Reading 

  

  

Document Control 

Version  01 (first issue) 

Author   Miles Messenger 

Issued   11th February 2019 

Changes  N/A 

P
age 14



  

   

 

PROJECT BRIEF 

South Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) has commissioned Bouygues E&S to undertake a High Level Assessment on the South Cambs Hall for an Energy 

Performance Contract under the RE:FIT 3 Framework. The Project Brief provided by SCDC sets out the senior leaders’ ambition to showcase investment in 
green energy generation and energy efficiency. The Council’s recently formed Climate Change and Environment Advisory Committee (CCE Committee) has 

agreed that Green Energy Investment will be one of the priorities within its Workplan 2018-2020. This property is the headquarters of SCDC, representing a 

large proportion of carbon emissions of the organisation. Thus, the investigation into CO2 reduction and renewable energy opportunities at this site is a priority.   
 

Scope: The investigation shall include the main Hall building and surrounding car park. It should also consider options for including Cambourne Business Park 
in scope. Various financing options shall be included for SCDC’s consideration. It has been requested that the investigation should include an examination of 

the viability of solar canopies located with carpark. This should also include any complimentary approaches that may be offered through battery storage and 
EV charging point technologies. 

 

Project Objectives:  
 Reduction of environmental impact (including reduced CO2e emissions etc.) 

 Savings on energy and water bills 

 Long-term revenue stream and Return On Investment to be re-invested in green energy 

 Increased energy self-sufficiency for the organisation 

 

Minimum Targets: Minimum expectations in terms of energy demand reduction, generation, carbon emissions abatement are currently unknown due to a 
lack of previous comparative SCDC projects. The HLA will help to shape the Council’s expectations for this and future projects, and will be used to identify the 

most effective set of measures for the achievement of project objectives. Expectation that there fossil-fuelled grid-supplied electricity demand reduced to zero 

from current …%. If grid connection is a problem, expectation that there be an option to create a micro-grid generation and distribution to EV charging points, 
LED lighting for carports and potentially sale of energy to neighbouring buildings in business park. 

 
Financing & Investment Criteria: Whilst there is an obvious minimum requirement for any financial investment to be recovered, SCDC is currently open 

minded as to the period of time over which this takes place. It has initially been indicated that we may seek to achieve 7% RoI over period of 20 years (this is 
the average existing risk threshold although no formally-agreed threshold exists). Funding source from the SCDC Renewables Reserve Fund (and potentially 

from the Public Works Loan Board, depending on scale of investment needed) 

 
A decision to proceed to the IGP phase will not be purely dependent on the level of financial gain, but will also take into account the environmental benefits. 

 
  

P
age 15



  

   

 

Base Parameters:  

 
Table 1: Energy Tariffs 

Utility Tariff Rate Inflationary Factor Carbon Factor 

Grid-supplied Electricity (day) £0.15235 / kWh 4% per annum 0.412 kgCO2e / kWh 

Grid-supplied Electricity (night) £0.10591 4% per annum 0.412 kgCO2e / kWh 

Natural Gas £0.0261 / kWh 4% per annum 0.184 kgCO2e / kWh 

Fuel Oil £0.0364 / kWh 6.49% per annum 0.268 kgCO2e / kWh 

Water £1.5373 / m3 2.83% per annum 0.344 kgCO2e / m3 

 

With regard to Feed In Tariffs, Renewable Heat Incentives and other renewables subsidies, this High Level Proposal has been formed on the basis of installation 

being completed in the summer of 2019 and is, to the best of our knowledge, applicable at the time of publication.  
 

Client Specifications: SCDC has set out the following electrical specifications: 
All electrical installation works must comply with the following: 

- IEE Wiring regulations 

- Electrical regulations 18th edition 
- Electricity at work regulations 1989 

- Management regulations 
- Consideration should be given to the BREEAM regulations to ensure any alterations do not adversely affect our rating 

 
All mechanical works must comply with the Puwer Regulations. 

 
In the absence of any other SCDC specific quality specifications or workmanship standards, we have based our specifications on that included in the original 
Invitation to Tender. We have also incorporated our company standards, which are in many cases of a more stringent criteria than that of our clients’. Should 
the Council wish for us to incorporate any additional technical requirements, this may be evaluated prior to the IGP.   

 

VAT: All business cases shall exclude VAT from all utilities, goods and services.  

  

P
age 16



  

   

 

THE DEVELOPMENT PROCESS 

  

H

I

I

x

01. HIGH LEVEL ASSESSMENT (HLA) 

We undertake initial site surveys to assess the energy performance 

of the asset(s), identify energy conservation measures and prepare 

an initial business case 

02. INVESTMENT GRADE PROPOSAL (IGP) 

We undertake detailed and targeted energy analysis of the 

asset(s), develop scopes, specifications and outline designs for 

energy conservation measures, obtain firm prices for the works 

and create a robust and comprehensive business case 

03. IMPLEMENTATION 

We finalise design and obtain approvals, mobilise, procure and 

coordinate the installation and commissioning of the project. This 

includes H&S management and associated statutory obligations  

04. MEASUREMENT & VERIFICATION (M&V) 

Bouygues E&S has a duty to monitor and report on the 

performance of the measures, with formal ‘annual reconciliations’ 

each year to demonstrate achievement of the Savings Guarantees. 

The outcomes of the business case (namely, 

the savings and payback period) form 

requirements of the contract agreement that 

must be improved upon at the Investment 

Grade Proposal stage 

The IGP forms part of the contract 

agreement, committing us to deliver the 

project scope for the agreed capital cost and 

within the agreed timescales. The savings 

set out in the business case are bound into 

a Savings Guarantee, which exists for the 

payback period.   

The ‘works completion’ is a formal milestone 

that marks the completion of our 

responsibilities in practical delivery, the start 

of the warranty period and commencement 

of the Savings Guarantee period.    

DELIVERABLES 

P
age 17



  

   

 

THE HIGH LEVEL ASSESSMENT 

As briefly mentioned above, the overarching purpose of the HLA is to ‘set the goalposts’ of minimum expectations that Bouygues E&S must meet at IGP stage. 

Whilst this is the main output deliverable, the HLA involves engineering investigations, options appraisals and feasibility studies, the development of a business 

case and supporting technical proposals. Bouygues E&S puts significant effort into this early stage, as we recognise the importance of having a firm footing 

and strong foundations the build the project on. We endeavour to establish a ‘best value’ technical proposition for each client that meets both programme 

requirements and local objectives. We seek to identify and account for technical and commercial risks wherever possible, or at least ensure that these are 

clearly communicated.  

Our Energy Engineers have undertaken Surveys of South Cambs Hall.  The purpose of this survey was to obtain a good understanding of the factors affecting 

the energy performance of the schools, the energy infrastructure and asset conditions. This has enabled us to establish ‘Energy Conservation Measures’ (ECMs) 

i.e. interventions to save energy, or generate renewable / low carbon energy on site.  

Using our bespoke modelling tools, we have established potential en  ergy savings, revenues, capital and operational costs associated with each ECM concept. 

We utilise our business case model to evaluate various combinations of ECMs to arrive at the optimum solution. This business case model provides various 

financial appraisals, carbon  savings, the minimum Savings Guarantees and maximum payback period.    

   

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT 

Presentation Meeting: We met with the Cam Academy Trust to present this HLA, discuss our technical rationales and answer any queries regarding the 

programme and proposal. This, coupled with the HLA documentation should empower the trust to make an informed decision on how best to proceed with the 

programme.   

Decision to Proceed: Cam Academy Trust will confirm your decision to proceed to IGP stage via email to CCC and Bouygues E&S representatives. It should 

be noted that this decision is only to move to IGP stage and does not commit the trust to go forward to installation. 

Contract Agreement: Our Contracts Manager will work with CCC’s Programme Manager to prepare the contracts for the IGP. This contract will commit 

Bouygues E&S to deliver a compliant IGP and, on the proviso that this is achieved, commit the trust for remunerating the IGP fees, should the trust choose not 

to proceed to works.  

Data 

Collection 

Site Survey Analysis & 

Business Case 

Technical 

Proposal 

Presentation 

meeting 

Contract 

Agreements 

P
age 18



  

   

 

HIGH LEVEL PROPOSAL HEADLINES 

 

  

(£1,500,000)

(£1,000,000)

(£500,000)

£0

£500,000

£1,000,000

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

A
n
n
u
a
l 
B
a
la

n
ce

 (
£
)

Contract Year

Payback at 13.99 Years 
PROJECT CAPITAL COST   £1,311,068 

PAYBACK PERIOD    13.99 years 

OPERATING COST INCREASE  £4,950/yr 

RENEWABLE ENERGY     570,907kWh/yr 

CARBON EMISSIONS SAVING  212TCO2/yr 

ENERGY SAVING     691,981kWh/yr 

* Based on the inclusion of the ‘120kW’ solar car port 

option and not the 275kW option.  

It is noted that the operating cost increase does not 

account for maintenance savings as these do not form 

part of our guarantee. 

The business case is modelled with no VAT addition to 

either goods and services or energy. 

   

KEY METRICS  

 

PAYBACK MODEL 

 

Investment Grade Proposal
2%

Capital Works
85%

Project Management
5%

Measurement & Verification
6%

Provisional Cost Sums
2%

CAPITAL COST PIE 

 

P
age 19



  

   

 

 

ENERGY CONSERVATION MEASURES.  

P
age 20



  

   

 

ECM 01: Solar Car Port System 

Rationale 

General 

Installing solar systems above surface and multi-storey car parks is becoming increasingly popular. The area above a car park is an otherwise unexploited 

brownfield site that can be used to generate renewable energy. Solar carports can enhance the car-parking experience in a number of ways, as well as 

improving the economic and environmental performance of the asset.  

Photovoltaic (PV) Cells convert solar radiation to electricity through a process known as the photoelectric effect. The electricity generated by the PV cells is 

Direct Current (DC). An inverter (or series of inverters) is connected to the PV array to convert DC power to Alternating Current (AC) electricity, allowing the 

PV array to be integrated with the site’s mains electricity infrastructure.  

The renewable energy generated by a ‘grid tied’ PV array can therefore feed into the mains electricity system and be consumed on site, offsetting power 

demands from the grid. Any surplus electricity may be exported to the mains grid, subject to the agreement of the Distribution Network Operator and the 

systems’ arrangement. The ‘offset’ in electricity imported from the grid shall generate a direct cost saving (the renewable power generated by the solar PV is 

free). 

Thanks to UK Government subsidies, the broad applicability of solar PV and a continued reduction in technology cost, the installed capacity of solar in the UK 

has grown exponentially over the past decade. According to government statistics, there was just 31.7MW of installed capacity in January 2010, compared 

with over 13,000MW by December 2018.  

The continued reduction in UK Government subsidies has slowed uptake over 

recent months. By April 2019, no subsidies will be available for new solar PV 

installations. However, as a consequence of continued reduction in installed 

price, increased mains electricity prices and evidence of prolonged long system 

lifespans means that subsidies are no longer needed in order to achieve a 

reasonable return on investment. 

In comparison to conventional rooftop and ground-mounted solar PV systems, 

the cost of a solar car port system is marginally higher, due to the additional 

materials required and installation labour. However, although reliant on the 

same core product, there are distinct differences between the systems. There 

are several advantages of car ports over the above, which may outweigh the 

impact of the additional cost for certain organisations. Ultimately, it’s a long-

term investment in green technology, bringing an opportunity to perform a 

variety of functions.     

P
age 21



  

   

 

For SCDC Hall 

As set out in the brief, SCDC is keen to explore this measure as part of the High Level Assessment. This solution has the potential for significant on-site 

renewable generation and create long-term revenues.  

A large staff car park area is positioned to the north west of the Hall. This 

covers an area of approximately 4,000m2. The area serves solely as a car 

park for the Hall and is highly utilised by council staff and visitors. Given 

the need to provide parking, it is highly likely that the car park will remain 

necessary for many years to come. There is a very low chance of this area 

being developed for other uses.  

Although the south westerly area of the car park suffers from shading from 

the Hall, particularly during the winter season, the car park is otherwise 

unshaded. The close vicinity of the Hall to the car park means that a 

proportion of the electrical connection may be made to the Hall mains 

electricity supply. Accordingly, the power generated by a solar PV array 

may directly offset the mains electricity demands. 

As discussed above, solar car ports bring several opportunities to 

incorporate other smart technology, including electric vehicle chargers, 

high-efficiency LED lighting, parking bay sensors, CCTV and various 

condition sensors. It is suggested that electric vehicle chargers (EVC) 

would be of particular benefit in this application, as discussed in ECM 07 

(EV Chargers). 

Finally, it is noted that the car park is due to be resurfaced in the near 

future. This brings an excellent opportunity to minimise the cost of civil 

works and trenched services installation associated with the car ports, as 

these works may be factored into the main works without major increase. 

In addition, the resurfacing brings an opportunity to review the existing 

parking bay layout and consider alternative layouts to optimise the car port 

design (noting that the total number of car parking spaces must remain 

unchanged).  

   

  

P
age 22



  

   

 

Outline Proposal 

We have undertaken a review of the existing car park to establish options for car port arrays in each row of parking bay. This considered the design form of 

car port, the orientation and pitch of the solar PV array and potential system capacity. A simulation model was prepared using PVSyst software to establish 

the potential quantity of electricity generated over the course of the year. This model incorporates the Hall building in a 3D model and thus accounts for the 

impact of shading. A copy of the model is appended to this High Level Assessment.  

Hourly generation profiles were created, which uses location-specific solar irradiance data. 

This high resolution of data is needed in order to quantify the mains electricity savings and 

assess the profile of surplus power i.e. when the volume of electricity generated is greater 

than the electrical demands from the building. The historic half-hourly electricity data 

recorded by the Hall meter was used to form this analysis.  

A total of 6 possible arrays have been identified, with a combined capacity of circa 275kW. 

We eliminated two parking bay areas due to shading impacts – these include the bays closest 

to the Hall building and the South Westerly edge. The system is formed of two car port 

designs, namely single-bay and double-depth car ports, as shown below. The latter is 

marginally more cost-effective, due to the higher capacity of solar PV in comparison to 

structural requirements of the car port. However, as a large proportion of the existing car 

park layout is formed of single-depth parking bays, the single-depth car ports account for 

the majority of potential capacity. The marked aerial image (right) shows the proposed 

layout, noting that the double-depth arrays are shown in purple and blue and the single-bay 

car ports are shown in yellow and orange. 

We have arrived at two possible system options, namely a 120kWp system, which is formed 

of double-depth car ports only and a 275kW system, which includes both double-depth and 

single-bays. Both options have been included in the HLA business case to enable comparison 

by SCDC. In both case, the vast majority of electricity generated by the system will be 

consumed on site, although as expected, the proportion of exported power is higher with 

the 275kW system.  

The proposal is based on a steel-framed car port design, with piled foundations. The array 

shall be formed of tier 1 275W solar PV modules, which shall be connected via DC cables to 

high-efficiency string inverters, mounted at the end of each array. An AC distribution board 

terminal shall be installed alongside the inverters, which shall in turn connect to the site’s 

P
age 23



  

   

 

electricity infrastructure. The AC distribution board shall be equipped with several additional circuit ways, which shall be assigned to new under-canopy LED 

lighting (as discussed below), Electric Vehicle chargers (as discussed in ECM 07), security CCTV and spares for future expansion. The AC cabling between the 

distribution board and the site’s electricity infrastructure shall be contained in trenched ducts (by others, see below scope of works). 

The existing SON-lamp column lighting will be removed and new ultra-high-efficiency LED luminaires will be installed to the underside of the car ports to 

provide lighting of the car park. There will be a marginal reduction in power demands due to this upgrade, although this has not been quantified and included 

in the business case. 

New metering shall be installed to measure the volume of electricity generated by the system. The inverters shall be equipped with remote communication 

systems, allowing continued monitoring of the systems’ performances.  

It is noted that the proposed resurfacing works brings an opportunity to change the parking bay layout, which may serve to optimise the 

car port design. It is advised that discussions are held between SCDC and Bouygues E&S to determine the scope of this opportunity.  

We have not included for landscaping in our proposal, as we believe that the majority of existing landscaping can remain unchanged. As indicated above, we 

have not included for trenched ducting, on the proviso that SCDC may incorporate this into the scope of the resurfacing works.  

Full planning permission will be required for this installation. The submission may require several specialist investigations and reports, as well as designs and 

statements. We would recommend that the application be submitted as part of the Investment Grade Proposal. 

A G99 application for connection must be made to the Distribution Network Operator, due to the connection of an electricity generator with a capacity of 

greater than 16A/phase. We propose that this is undertaken as part of the Investment Grade Proposal.  

Scope of Works 

 The Investment Grade Proposal fee shall include options appraisals, outline design and specification of the Solar Car Port System and LED lighting 

installation, works package tendering and detailed energy modelling. 

 Budget costs have been made for additional investigations and enabling, such as geotechnical studies and ground investigations, planning applications, 

building control applications, test boreholes, consultancy services and desktop studies have been made in the project costs. These may be completed 

at IGP stage by variation to the IGP. 

 The scope shall include the technical design, supply, installation, commissioning and testing of the car port system as described above, including 

construction materials and labour, modifications to existing systems and utilities connections. 

 The scope of works shall not include for resurfacing of the car park or trenching, ducting or landscaping, on the proviso that this shall be undertaken 

by SCDC. 

P
age 24



  

   

 

 

Specification Notes 

 The solar PV modules shall be tier 1 

bloomberg rated and shall have a performance 

warranty of no less than 80% at 25 years. 

 The inverters shall be high-efficiency MPPT 

string type and shall be supplied with a warranty 

of no less than 10 years. 

 The car port structure shall be designed by 

a chartered structural engineer and shall 

conform to all relevant design standards, 

including EuroCode. The car port shall be 

fabricated and installed by a reputable UK-based 

fabricator and shall be supplied with a warranty 

of no less than 20 years. 

 The LED lighting shall be designed to 

maintain equal or greater average lux levels 

across the car park and shall have a luminous 

efficacy of no less than 100llm/W. 

 The electrical systems designs shall comply 

with all relevant standards, codes of practice and 

regulations, including those highlighted by 

SCDC. 

 The system shall not result in any loss of 

car parking capacity.     

 

 

P
age 25



  

   

 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

Clearly, there are many aspects that may impact feasibility that we simply cannot clarify at this stage and therefore have made reasonable engineering 

assumptions to form the business case. We propose to undertake the necessary investigations to clarify these assumptions and confirm feasibility as part of 

the Investment Grade Proposal stage. A technical risk register shall be formed to categorise the risks associated with these assumptions and the appropriate 

course of action to control them. A project development plan will be developed to ‘front load’ clarification of major risks, so as to minimise the council’s 

exposure to development costs before feasibility is confirmed. 

The key assumptions made in developing this proposal are broadly summarised below: 

 That the Distributon Network Operator confirms that no reinforcement works are required in order to facilitate connection.  

 That Planning Permission is granted for the solar car ports 

 That the ground structure is suitable for typical piled foundations 

 That there are no atypical environmental aspects of the site 

 That the resurfacing works may be coordinated with the installation of the car ports and that SCDC includes appropriate enabling works within the 

scope for resurfacing, as set out above. 

 That there are no material changes in base equipment and labour rates, exchange rates and inflation   

Whilst we accept that there are numerous hurdles to overcome, we remain cautiously confident that the project will be feasible and that the budgets and 

saving calculations presented in the HLA business case are appropriately conservative.   

  

P
age 26



  

   

 

ECM 02: 300kW Ground Source Heat Pump 

Rationale 

General 

The Climate Change Act (2008) requires an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions relative to 1990 levels by 2050. The UK is on track to meet 

short-term emissions targets, but is unlikely to meet longer term targets without additional policies. While emissions from electricity production have fallen 

significantly, there has been much less progress in reducing emissions from heating. 

The gas network delivers more than twice the energy of the electricity grid and supplies 23 million consumers. Unlike the electricity grid, the ‘energy mix’ of 

the gas network remains virtually unchanged, as does the carbon emission factor. The burning of natural gas for heating contributes 14% of the UK’s 

greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Accordingly, in order to meet the UK’s GHG emissions targets, we must either find alternative means of generating heat, or 

look to decarbonise the gas network. Although significant efforts are being made to develop solutions for network decarbonisation, the actual contribution of 

‘low carbon gas’ represents less than 1% of the supply at present and there is great uncertainty as to the ultimate offset that may be achieved. 

The current low or zero carbon alternative forms of heating broadly include biomass / biogas combustion or heat pumps. There are various permutations of 

both technology forms which make them more or less suitable to different applications. There are distinct pros and cons of each technology option, which may 

affect a selection, such as fuel supply availability, spatial availability, accessibility, thermal profile, energy tariffs, local planning opinions and client preferences.  

Heat pumps recover heat from surrounding environments, using a refrigeration cycle to generate temperature disparities between the heat source, sink and 

system. Much like a refrigerator removes the heat from its contents and releases the heat at the condenser, a heat pump removes heat from the ‘source’ and 

releases it to the point of use. As with a refrigerator, electricity is required in order to drive the refrigerant compressors. However, thanks to the refrigerant 

effect and decades of technological advancements, the electrical energy used in driving these compressors is a fraction of the heat reclaimed. This fraction 

varies depending on the application but is typically a quarter to a third i.e. three to four units of heat are generated from one unit of electricity. 

The ‘sources’ may be broadly categorised as ground, air or water. Likewise, heat is commonly transferred to either air or water.  

As the source is ‘renewable’, it is classed as a renewable technology, despite the fact that it uses electricity. Nevertheless, the carbon emissions are still lower 

than natural gas and, given the continued ‘decarbonisation’ of the electricity grid, the carbon efficiency is set to improve over time. The below graph shows 

the department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s projection over the next 15 years.  

P
age 27



  

   

 

Using today’s carbon emissions factors, a heat pump will 

typically contribute 0.077 - 0.1kgCO2/kWh. However, in ten 

years, this will reduce to circa 0.038-0.052kgCO2/kWh based on 

BEIS’ projections. In comparison, the carbon factor applied to 

natural gas is 0.184kgCO2/kWh, although when factoring boiler 

efficiency losses, this increases to around 0.2252kgCO2/kWh.  

As heat pumps are recognised by the UK Government as a 

renewable form of heating, they are eligible for Renewable Heat 

Incentive. This means that owners of eligible systems may 

register with RHI and receive payment for every unit of heat 

generated over the next 20 years. The rate received depends on 

the type and capacity of system installed, as well as the amount 

of heat generated (a two tiered system is operated). At present, 

‘ground source heat pumps’ (GSHP) receive vastly preferential 

rates. Thus, although investment costs are often higher than air 

source heat pump (ASHP), the longer term return on investment 

is often better. GSHPs suffer less from seasonal climatic variants 

than ASHPs, thus generally being able to operate at very low 

temperatures (when heat is needed the most). They are often able to 

operate at marginally higher system temperatures, which are better 

suited to conventional heating systems.   

To summarise, the rationales for considering heat pumps as a retrofit to 

gas boilers are (a) significant carbon abatement potential and (b) a net 

lower operating cost, thanks to renewable heat incentive subsidies.  

 

For SCDC Hall 

In order to achieve the ambitions of SCDC to make significant carbon 

emissions savings, it is necessary to implement a low carbon alternative 

to the gas condensing boilers as the main heat source. Due to the above 

rationales, we have selected heat pump as the preferred form of 

renewable heat, accepting that other forms may be considered as part 

of a more detailed options appraisal at Investment Grade Proposal stage.  

P
age 28



  

   

 

The existing condensing gas boilers were efficient for their day (2000). However, not only has subsequent technological advancements improved boiler 

efficiency but, the boilers are not operating at their condensing efficiency. As such, they are consuming more gas than is necessary, achieving a seasonal 

efficiency of perhaps 80-83%. Boilers tend to have a lifespan of circa 20 – 25yrs (CIBSE Guide M), so lifecycle replacement is inevitable in the next 5 or so 

years.  

The Hall is equipped with a large Airedale chiller, which is located on the roof. This serves air handling units and active beams with cooling during the summer 

months. Similarly, the chiller is now nearly 20yrs old and is also reaching the end of its serviceable life. The installation of a reversible heat pump brings the 

opportunity to generate chilled water, which may be used to offset the duty placed on the existing chiller, thus extending its useful life. However, as explained, 

the specification of a reversible heat pump is subject to further due diligence and cost appraisal.   

The system is currently not well suited to heat pumps, due to high 

operating temperatures. However, it is possible to reduce the 

operating temperatures for the vast majority of the year – this will 

be achieved through a new operating strategy delivered by the 

proposed BEMS.  

Importantly, the installation of additional renewable electricity 

generators provides the opportunity to use the surplus electricity.  

 

The feasibility for this measure will depend heavily on the ground 

make-up, predominantly as this will dictate the rate of extraction of 

heat from each borehole. The left-hand figure shows a map of the 

geology of Cambourne. As can be seen, the initial observations 

suggest that the ground is mainly sandy clay, mudstone and 

bedrock. With reference to benchmarks, we may expect the thermal 

conductivity of between 40 and 50W/m, which is about average.  

  

Outline Proposal 

We propose the installation of a packaged closed loop GSHP system with a combined heat output of 300kW to connect into the space heating and hot water 

systems. Due to spatial limitations within the Hall building, the GSHP equipment will be housed in a new packaged plantroom, positioned near the building 

(the precise location is subject to discussion with SCDC and relevant stakeholders). The heat loops will be formed of an array of vertical boreholes with piped 

u-shaped exchanger probes. The depth, spacing and number of boreholes that form the array will be subject to design, heat exchanger desktop studies and 

borehole thermal response testing, although it is estimated that a total of between 15 and 20 150m deep boreholes will be required, based on our initial 

P
age 29



  

   

 

observations on ground make-up. It is proposed that these boreholes are positioned in the car park area and coordinated with both the solar car ports and 

proposed resurfacing works. They shall remain accessible for maintenance via manhole covers.  

The GSHP will be formed of multiple heat pump units, 

which act in cascade to match output with loads. 

These will connect to a new primary hydronic heating 

plant system, which will enable the transferral of heat 

from the heat pumps to the existing heating and hot 

water systems. New pre-insulated external-grade 

pipework will be installed between the two plantrooms 

and trenched along the ground to the building, then 

rising on the external façade of the building (our 

proposal is to position the riser at the North Westerly 

elevation, so as to avoid visual impact from most 

public viewpoints. New circulation pumpsets, pressure 

units, expansion and valve arrangements will be 

installed to suit.  

A large thermal energy store (2 x 20,000L) will sit 

external to the plantroom and shall connect into the 

new primary heating system. The purpose of this 

component is to allow to run the heat pumps and 

charge the system during off-peak electricity tariffs and discharge the stored heat during peak tariff. This will also allow for smoother operation of the heat 

pumps, reducing on/off cycling of the compressors. These stores will be insulated to a high degree, thus minimising the conductive heat losses. 

The heat pump plantroom will be in the form of a 30ft ISO container. This may be cladded or finished in a range of colours and materials, such as timber or 

CIPS cladding, any RAL colour or graphic design. No specific allowances have been made in this regard, noting that the final finish will be subject to further 

discussion with SCDC. This container will sit on new pad foundations. 

The system will be fully integrated with the proposed BEMS, which will enable the BEMS to control associated plant in accordance with the heat pumps and 

vice versa. The BEMS will be programmed to allow the heat pump to act as lead heat source, thus minimising the load and gas consumed by the extant boilers. 

Adaptions will be made to the heat distribution system controls, such as the air handling strategy and variable temperature control. This will ensure compatibility 

with the temperature regime of the heat pump.  

P
age 30



  

   

 

The heat pumps will be specified to achieve a 

peak flow temperature of 65DegC. This is 

somewhat lower than the current operating 

temperature of 81DegC, noting that the system 

was originally designed to operate at 70DegC. A 

full design assessment will be undertaken as part 

of the IGP to confirm system compatibility. The 

system will have a minimum seasonal Coefficient 

of Performance (COP) of 3.3. This means that for 

every unit of electricity consumed, 3.3 units of 

heat will be generated. We have undertaken 

initial energy modelling to determine the volume 

of heat that may be generated by the GSHP and 

the volume of gas avoided – This is a daily model, 

which has been grafted from monthly meter 

readings provided by the council. Our initial 

analysis suggests that circa 70% of the gas 

consumption may be avoided, although will look 

to improve upon this at IGP stage.  

The system will comply with the Renewable Heat Incentive Regulations and thus the council will be eligible to receive RHI payments for the next 20 years. 

Scope of Works 

 The Investment Grade Proposal fee shall include options appraisals, outline design and specification of the GSHP plant and mechanical interface, works 

package tendering and detailed energy modelling. 

 Budget costs have been made for additional investigations and enabling, such as geotechnical studies and ground investigations, planning applications, 

building control applications, test boreholes, consultancy services and desktop studies have been made in the project costs. These may be completed 

at IGP stage by variation to the IGP. 

 The scope shall include the technical design, supply, installation, commissioning and testing of the 300kW heat pump system, including construction 

materials and plantroom, modifications to existing systems and utilities connections. 

 The scope of works shall not include for resurfacing of the car park, on the proviso that this shall be undertaken by SCDC. 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5
1

6
1

7
1

8
1

9
1

1
0
1

1
1
1

1
2
1

1
3
1

1
4
1

1
5
1

1
6
1

1
7
1

1
8
1

1
9
1

2
0
1

2
1
1

2
2
1

2
3
1

2
4
1

2
5
1

2
6
1

2
7
1

2
8
1

2
9
1

3
0
1

3
1
1

3
2
1

3
3
1

3
4
1

3
5
1

3
6
1

SCDC Halls - Daily Heat Profile : Heat Pump vs. Boiler

Heat from Boilers

Heat Pump

Total Heat

P
age 31



  

   

 

Specification Notes 

 The design and works shall comply with the Ground Source Heat Pump Association’s GSHVBS Vertical Borehole Standard, Closed-loop Vertical Borehole 

Design Installation and Materials Standards, Thermal Pile Standards, MCS MIS 3005 Heat Pump Systems, the Environment Agency's Environmental 

ground source heating and cooling good practice guide, all relevant CIBSE Guides and technical memoranda.  

 The design and works shall comply with all relevant legislation and regulations, including the Building Regulations, Health & Safety at Work Act and 

Renewable Heat Incentive Regulations. 

 The system shall be able to provide 300kWt of heat at no less than 65DegC to the system. The seasonal COP shall be no less than 3.3.  

 The refrigerant shall be R134A, R1234Ze or R744, depending on the level of ODP requirements agreed with client 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

Clearly, there are many aspects that may impact feasibility that we simply cannot clarify at this stage and therefore have made reasonable engineering 

assumptions to form the business case. We propose to undertake the necessary investigations to clarify these assumptions and confirm feasibility as part of 

the Investment Grade Proposal stage. A technical risk register shall be formed to categorise the risks associated with these assumptions and the appropriate 

course of action to control them. A project development plan will be developed to ‘front load’ clarification of major risks, so as to minimise the council’s 

exposure to development costs before feasibility is confirmed. 

The key assumptions made in developing this proposal are broadly summarised below: 

 That the ground is suitable for heat recovery and has a typical thermal conductivity 

 That the installation is straightforward, with no complexities. The siting of the equipment is reasonable and minimises the length of energy  distribution 

systems 

 That the existing heating and hot water systems may operate at a peak temperature of 65DegC  

 That there is sufficient spare electrical capacity for the GSHP 

 That the RHI scheme remains in place and the tariffs remain equal or higher   

 That Planning Permission may be granted without costly conditions 

Whilst we accept that there are numerous hurdles to overcome, we remain cautiously confident that the project will be feasible and that the budgets and 

saving calculations presented in the HLA business case are appropriately conservative.   

P
age 32



  

   

 

ECM 03: Building Energy Management System (BEMS) Renewal 

Rationale 

General 

Commercial heating, ventilation, air conditioning and hot water systems come in all shapes and sizes, designed specifically for the building served. The plant 

itself must be controlled to cater for the changing demands of the spaces served. 

The principle objective of building automation is to ensure that the plant is controlled to maintain the correct conditions with minimal energy expenditure. This 

is of particular importance when it comes to energy intensive facilities, such as larger, fully conditioned offices.   

Whilst mechanical plant was conventionally controlled via analogue / mechanical controls, we are now able to deploy sophisticated digital building automation 

solutions, without it costing the earth. This technological advancement brings about an excellent opportunity to avoid energy wastage and enhance facilities 

management practices.  

‘Demand led’ software strategies, trend logging and simplified user interfaces allow us to understand your building’s needs and control heating, ventilation and 

air conditioning systems more effectively. BEMS is able to automatically learn thermal characteristics of the building and make adjustments to how it controls 

the plant. The system is able to constantly evaluate its performance and adapt control settings accordingly. 

Significant improvements have been made in the human interfaces, thus making it easier for site managers to adapt system control settings to align with the 

site’s needs. This brings broader benefits, such as alarms when plant equipment fails, alerts where systems underperform and historic trend data to allow for 

in-depth analysis. 

Through successful BEMS, we are able to ensure that mechanical plant equipment consumes the minimum quantity of energy to meet demands. Our energy 

engineers and specialist supply-chain have the expertise and experience to develop and implement innovative controls solutions. 

 

For SCDC Hall 

The Hall is currently served by a relatively complex heating, cooling and ventilation system, comprising a perimeter convector system, mechanical ventilation 

system with variable air volume control, active heated / chilled beams, radiators, underfloor heating and fan convectors. A central chiller provides cooling via 

chilled water to the mechanical ventilation system and fan convectors. Two modulating condensing gas boilers provide heat to the various heat emitters listed 

above. The systems have been designed with energy efficiency in mind, albeit that the installation dates back to around 2000, so some of the design strategies 

are somewhat dated. Moreover, the major plant equipment also dates back to the original construction and no longer meets the efficiency standards of today.  

There are several excellent energy efficiency features, such as zoned control of the HVAC systems, including the use of 2-port motorised control valving and 

variable speed driven pump and fan motors. These all have the capability of minimising their energy use to meet condition demands. The main ventilation 

system is equipped with CO2 sensors, temperature sensors and other condition monitors, with the intention of ensuring that the systems may be controlled to 

meet the appropriate conditions.  

P
age 33



  

   

 

As with the plant equipment, the Building Energy Management System that is currently installed dates back to the original construction. This TREND IQ2 

system would have been highly sophisticated and technologically advanced for its era and has many good qualities. The system has extensive control over the 

HVAC installation and offers a graphical front-end supervisor, which is accessible via the Facilities Manager’s desktop PC. However, it is now dated by modern 

standards and is no longer manufactured or supported by TREND. Like many other microprocessors and software, the technology used around the millennium 

may still function but is unable to deliver that of a concurrent system.  

Interrogation of the BEMS controls during the initial High Level Assessment revealed several significant opportunities for improvement. This ranged from simple 

systems adjustments to more complex engineering software modifications. Given the size and complexity of the plant it controls, even minor efficiency 

improvements can have a material impact on operating costs. Examples of excessive energy demands and opportunities for saving include the following: 

 The daytime heating temperature setpoint is 23DegC, which exceeds the standard setpoint for offices 

 The ‘modulating’ gas boilers do not appear to monitor properly and are operating to maintain 81DegC, well above condensing temperature 

 The air handling unit fan motor VSDs are set at high frequencies and do not appear to modulate, thus causing excessive electricity demands 
(the supply fan is running at between 18 and 20kW).  

 The time schedules for the plant equipment are excessive and do not align with building occupancy 

 The chilled water pumps do not have VSDs and thus run at 100% irrespective of cooling demand 

 The volume control dampers of the main air supply system appear not to close when both temperature and air quality requirements are 
satisfied 

 The AHU01 thermal wheel control appears not to work properly – disabled when it should be operational 

 The boiler outside air temperature hold-off is set to 19DegC, which is far too high and causing the boilers to operate when not required 

 The compensation curves of the variable temperature circuit and underfloor heating circuit are excessively high 

 The current control strategy gives rise to conflicting operations between heating and cooling systems 

These are just examples; we are confident that other issues may be highlighted through more in-depth analysis at Investment Grade Proposal stage.  

In addition, we recognised the opportunity to extend the BEMS to control additional plant, or modify the control function. However, as a consequence of the 

IQ2 range being obsolete, extension of the existing system is not possible. 

Replacement of the BEMS with a concurrent system seems virtually inevitable, if not for the purpose of energy efficiency but for future resilience and lifecycle. 

However, if planned and designed with energy efficiency as a priority, significant energy savings may be achieved, as well as operational broader improvements. 

Hence, the rationale for the inclusion of this measure is to minimise energy expenditure of HVAC plant through effective control, whilst renewing lifecycle and 

improving operational resilience. This also brings opportunities to incorporate new plant, such as the Ground Source Heat Pump proposed as ECM 02.     

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



  

   

 

Outline Proposal 

We propose the removal of all TREND IQ2 controller and 963 supervisor and replacement with a concurrent BEMS product range. Our business case is based 

on the system being upgraded with the TREND IQ4 / TON8 system, due to the broad compatibility with field equipment and wiring infrastructure.  

This includes replacement of the main outstations located in the plantroom. A new control strategy will be developed to complement the existing plant 

arrangement and ensure effective ‘demand driven’ control. System specific control strategies will be developed for each air handling unit, particularly those 

larger units that are responsible for the majority of system energy demands i.e. AHUs 01, 02 and 03. New condition sensing equipment will be installed where 

necessary, such as humidity sensors, air quality sensors and occupancy detectors. Psychrometric control strategies will be developed, to ensure that the right 

conditions are maintained, whilst avoiding over-conditioning.  

As noted above, the majority of pumps and fans have been equipped with variable speed drives. Whilst these will have helped to moderate the electrical 

consumption of the motors, the majority of them are commissioned to maintain a constant speed, typically at 45Hz and above. Hence, there is an opportunity 

to introduce variable speed control where appropriate, to maximise the energy savings available from this equipment as part of the new BEMS installation – 

at present, it is believed that the BEMS does not have analogue control (modulating) but only digital (on/off) and consequently, it is unable to vary the speed 

of each motor in light of changes in conditions and demands. As noted above, the main chiller pumps (7.5kW twin run/standby) are DOL with no VSD control. 

Whilst a minimum flow rate must be maintained across the chiller whenever the chiller is operable, the installation of VSDs brings the possibility of 

recommissioning the valving to reduce pressure losses and reduce pump speeds, thus reducing the electrical loads placed on the motors.    

The BEMS will also be expanded to communicate with the proposed GSHP 

(via BACNet, Modbus, M-Bus or KNX as appropriate). Consequently, the BEMS 

will be able to measure the CHP’s output and performance, thus being able 

to make appropriate decisions on the operation of relevant equipment (such 

as the boilers and demand-side plant). This will result in increased hours of 

operation of the GSHP and avoidance of loads placed on the gas boiler plant, 

thus helping to minimise the mains electricity demands of the building.  

P
age 35



  

   

 

A new centralised TREND IQ Vision (or equivalent) front-end graphical interface will be 

introduced to enable central management of the BEMS installation across the site. This 

will provide centralised data logging, archiving, alarming, trending, master scheduling, 

system-wide database management, and integration with enterprise software 

applications, as well as live schematics of each HVAC system. This will open up the 

possibility of secure remote access, should SCDC wish to explore options for offsite 

‘bureau’ management. The TREND IQ Vision is ‘futureproof’, in that it is designed to be 

compatible with current and future building services equipment. We will invite SCDC to 

engage in the design of the graphical interface, to ensure that it is aligned with the needs 

of the site management.    

Our in-house TREND qualified engineers will develop the design strategy for the above 

system. We will engage with our existing TREND systems house supply chain partners to 

tender for the work, as well as the incumbent service partner, should this be the wish of 

South Cambs District Council. This will ensure that we achieve best value for money, in 

both the design and specification of the equipment and the procurement of the works.  

It is acknowledged that the costs set out in the HLA Business Case are estimates, with sufficient contingency budget to accommodate for uncertainties over 

extent of modifications required. This should not be treated as a competitive quote but a budget to achieve the desired outcomes.       

Scope of Works 

 Undertake thorough review of all mechanical plant assets installed across the facility and the existing TREND IQ2 control strategy 

 Develop new ‘demand driven’ control strategy and systems design 

 Remove existing TREND IQ2 outstations, including relevant expansion capacity to accommodate additional plant as required 

 Install new TREND IQ4 outstations in situ of existing outstations in existing control panels 

 Modify field controls infrastructure to suit for proposed systems design  

 Develop new front-end graphical interface in accordance with that agreed with the site management 

 Implement new remote access interface (if agreed) 

 Test & commission 

P
age 36



  

   

 

SCDC will be responsible for installing a new LAN Patch-point in the vicinity of each controller. We will coordinate with the ICT specialist to confirm IP addresses 

and security settings. This will follow the same protocol as that of the existing system, so is expected to conform to SCDC’s data security requirements.   

Specification Notes 

 The BEMS shall be TREND IQ4 and IQ Vision or equal equivalent and shall be capable of that set out in the Outline Proposal.  

 The Contractor shall be a registered systems house of TREND Controls (or as applicable to the chosen manufacturer) 

 The control strategy shall be designed in accordance with all relevant regulations, standards and industry codes of practice. 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

 It is assumed that the field equipment is in sound condition and good working order. No allowance has been made for significant replacement of field 

components, although it is acknowledged that sufficient budget allowances have been made for the odd failed sensor or actuator. A full audit will be 

conducted to ensure that any failed equipment is identified ahead of installation.  

 It is assumed that SCDC will provide suitable ICT LAN connection points adjacent to each outstation to allow networking. Bouygues E&S will not 

incorporate this into the scope of work, due to the need to ensure alignment with the ICT infrastructure and security protocols.   

 It is assumed that the site is clear of asbestos. Should there be any risk of asbestos being present, a Refurbishment & Demolition survey will need to 

be conducted for the areas concerns 

  

P
age 37



  

   

 

ECM 04: AHU EC FAN UPGRADES 

Rationale 

General 

As discussed earlier in this proposal, HVAC typically contributes to a major proportion of a fully serviced office’s annual energy demands. According to CIBSE’s 

Energy Consumption Guide 19 (which was published at around the time of construction), the electrical demands of fans and pumps can contribute to between 

15% and 20% of the annual energy expenditure. The need to constantly provide fresh air to the office space means that ventilation and heating equipment 

must operate for the duration of occupancy. Air handling units are used to mechanically ventilate these areas, providing filtered fresh air, heat and cooling. 

The electrically driven fans operate 

continuously and typically require the largest 

motors, other than the pumps. 

 

There have been several significant technological advancements in the design of fans and motors over recent years. Accordingly, retrofitting older fans with 

new energy efficient fans has become a common energy intervention, particularly in larger mechanically ventilated offices. As these fans tend to be large and 

operate for extensive hours, the business case for retrofit replacement can be very economically attractive.     

DC motors are around 30% more efficient than AC motors because the secondary magnetic field comes from permanent magnets rather than copper windings. 

An AC motor consumes additional energy solely to create a magnetic field by inducing a current in the rotor. The result is that a DC motor requires 30% less 

energy to create the same rotational power. Moreover, AC motors are designed to operate at a certain point on their performance curve which coincides with 

their peak efficiency. Either side of this operating point, the efficiency can drop off considerably. EC motors on the other hand have an almost flat efficiency 

curve which varies relatively little across the speed range, a range which is not limited by synchronous speeds or as susceptible to voltage fluctuations as an 

AC motor. This makes the EC fan much more flexible in terms of being able to use the same product to match the performance requirements of different 

applications while still benefitting from increased efficiency. 

However, the use of modern electronics in controlling the motor has opened up many other possibilities which contribute to using less power. Doubling the 

speed of a motor increases its power input by a factor of 8 so it’s very wasteful to run a fan faster than is required. If you can tailor the fan speed to match 

the demand, the potential for energy saving is huge. Hence, when coupled with an effective ‘demand driven’ BEMS control strategy, the savings can be very 

high indeed.   

The available range of AC input EC fans is expanding all of the time. There are axial and centrifugal fans, forward curved and backward curved, single inlet and 

double inlet, single phase and three phase and they are often directly interchangeable with their AC equivalents.  

P
age 38



  

   

 

For South Cambs Hall 

As noted earlier in the proposal, South Cambs Hall’s construction was completed in circa 2003 and many of the original HVAC equipment remains in commission. 

This includes the air handling plant, which is showing early signs of wear. The largest air handling units are AHU 01 and 02, which serve the main office areas. 

These are equipped with centrifugal fans with belt-driven motors, which fall well short of modern energy efficiency standards. The motors are equipped with 

variable speed drives, which have the potential to reduce the power drawn from the motors. However, as discussed earlier, these are generally configured to 

maintain a constant speed which is close to the maximum, thus only delivering a fraction of their potential.  

During our high level survey, we noted the power drawn by each motor by interrogating the VSD. AHU 01 supply fan was drawing 19kW at 49.5Hz; the extract 

fan was consuming 4kW at 30Hz. AHU 02 supply and extract fans were consuming 3.55kW and 2.67kW respectively. The combined constant power drawn 

from these motors is of a scale that warrants investment. The power drawn from other AHUs is considered to be too small to warrant investment i.e. the 

payback periods would be too long.  

Our initial observations suggest that retrofitting with fans with EC/DC motors would be feasible. 

Outline Proposal 

We propose the removal of the existing centrifugal fans serving AHU 01and 02 supply and extract 

systems. These shall be replaced with new backward curve centrifugal fans with EC/DC motors. 

The new fans will be capable of delivering equal air flow rates and pressures, so as to ensure that 

the design conditions can be maintained.  

The fan arrangement will be designed to be compatible with the existing AHU casing, thus avoiding 

the necessity for replacement. Whilst the casing is showing signs of wear, it is our initial view that 

the casing has sufficient remaining life to postpone replacement. However, as part of the 

Investment Grade Proposal, a detailed inspection of the AHUs will be undertaken to confirm that 

the extant equipment is in good working order. We will also review the filtering arrangement, to 

determine whether further efficiencies may be gained through moving to an arrangement with a 

lower pressure loss.  

The new EC fans will be capable of directly varying the speed of the motors, thus replacing the 

function of the VSDs. The BEMS control strategy discussed in ECM 03 will be implemented to enable 

the speed to vary in accordance with demand. Appropriate alterations will be made to the control 

and power wiring to accommodate for the new fans.  

  

P
age 39



  

   

 

Specification Notes 

 The EC fans shall be designed to be capable of delivering equal flow rates and pressures to that of the existing fans 

 The EC fans shall be manufactured by a reputable company with an established UK presence 

 The EC fans shall be specifically designed to operate in the environmental conditions and shall have appropriate protective coatings and finishes  

 The EC fans shall be ErP2015 compliant and IE3 efficiency class as a minimum 

 The EC fans shall comply with all relevant regulations, standards and industry codes of practice 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

 It is acknowledged that the AHUs are to be retained under this ECM. Whilst further investigations will be undertaken to provide an informed view of 

the condition of the extant equipment, we cannot assume any risk on any future failures of other parts of the ventilation system   

 It is acknowledged that the installation of the fans will require temporary shutdown of the AHUs. This will need to be carefully coordinated around site 

operations, so as to minimise any impacts or loss of revenue. We propose to set out and agree an installation methodology as part of the Investment 

Grade Proposal.   

  

P
age 40



  

   

 

ECM 05: Chiller Modifications & Enhancements 

Rationale 

General 

It is well documented that reducing the discharge pressure of a refrigeration compressor is desirable to improve energy efficiency. Discharge pressure is 

maintained by switching fans on and off to control the flow of ambient air through a condenser, the wide swing in discharge pressure as a result of cycling 

these fans can substantially reduce compressor efficiency. 

Improvements in fan and motor design mean that the replacement of existing condenser fans with the latest EC fans will increase airflow through the condenser 

while consuming less energy at a lower noise level. The increased airflow allows a lower discharge pressure to be maintained increasing compressor efficiency. 

The increase in airflow increases heat rejection, which also improves resilience and cooling capacity at high ambient temperatures. This is a major issue in 

many buildings where poor chiller location leads to the short cycling of hot air from the condenser outlet back into the condenser inlet. 

EC fan motors can be speed controlled, this allows the use of intelligent control algorithms to further optimise compressor efficiency, maintaining accurate 

discharge pressure dependant on cooling demand and ambient air temperature. The mechanical shock of constantly cycling fans, (sometimes several times a 

minute) severely shortens their life expectancy; it is not unusual to experience condenser fan failures after less than 5 years operation. Speed controlled EC 

fans have a life expectancy of 40,000 hours, typically 8-12 years of operation. 

Chillers require continuous chilled water flow whenever in operation in order to deliver cooling to the chilled water and to prevent freezing or damage to the 

compressor. This need to maintain a constant volume means that pumping demands are often relatively high – they cannot vary with demand. However, the 

originally installed pumps will inevitably be marginally overspecified, so as to ensure that design flow rates are maintained. The inclusion of commissioning 

valves are used to create pressure and thus reduce the flow rate to that required. Consequently, the pumps are working harder than necessary in order to 

create the desired flow. An alternative is to install a variable speed drive, release the pressure and reduce the speed of the pump by reducing the frequency. 

In doing so, significant energy savings may be achieved.   

 

For SCDC Hall 

As discussed above, South Cambs Hall is served by a relatively old large chiller, which is located in the roof plant area. The chiller is an Airedale USC type, 

which is a good quality chiller and energy efficient for its era. However, this falls well short of modern chiller efficiency standards. Wholesale replacement with 

a new efficient chiller would be very expensive and would not yield a good return on investment. However, retrofitting of specific components, such as the 

condenser fans and controllers can provide good efficiency improvements and yield good returns on investment.  

The existing circulation pumps are equipped with two DOL 7.5kW motors. They operate at 100% whenever the chiller is in demand. The commissioning valves 

appear to have been commissioned to reduce the flow rate. Over the course of the year, we calculate that the pumps consume circa 8,000kWh, which 

represents around 1.5% of the entire site’s electricity demand.  

P
age 41



  

   

 

Outline Proposal 

We propose the replacement of the existing 10 voltage regulated AC condenser fans with 10 new EC fans. These shall be specified for this specific Airedale 

USC chiller and shall be fully compatible with the extant components. A new EC fan modulating controller will be installed, with intelligent algorithms to 

minimise energy expenditures. The chiller shall be inspected to ensure that the refrigerant levels are optimum, that the condenser coils are in good condition 

and that the condensers are working to their optimum efficiency. The chiller shall be recommissioned with the new EC fans to ensure optimum efficiency. 

A pre and post ‘Climacheck’ COP test will be conducted, to verify that the desired part-load efficiencies have been achieved. 

We propose the installation of two new 7.5kW Variable Speed Drives to the existing chilled water pumps. The chilled water circuit shall be recommissioned to 

achieve the design flow rates, using the VSD to reduce the speed of the motors accordingly.    

Scope of Works 

 During the shutdown, each existing fan will be removed and replaced by a suitably sized / designed EC fan. 

 Prior to shutdown EC fan control panels are mounted and all interconnecting cabling installed., this includes a new 2-core screened cable connected 

between EC fans on each refrigeration circuit to provide a speed control signal. 

 During shutdown, all electrical cables will be removed from existing fan motors and re-terminated to the replacement EC fan motor. Existing control 

panel will be modified to supply each EC fan with a mains 3-phase voltage through a suitably rated over current / short circuit protection device. 

 An insulation test will be carried out to prove the integrity of existing cable insulation and connections to the EC fan motor. 

 All fans will be tested for correct direction, and minimum / maximum speed control operation. 

 Refrigeration operating parameters will be monitored and EC fan controller programmed to maintain optimum operating conditions. 

Specification Notes 

 The VSDs shall be fully compatible and optimal for the existing pumps. They shall be supplied by a reputable manufacturer with an established UK 

presence and shall have a warranty of no less than 3 years.  

 The EC fans shall be designed to be capable of delivering equal flow rates and pressures to that of the existing fans 

 The EC fans shall be manufactured by a reputable company with an established UK presence 

 The EC fans shall be specifically designed to operate in the environmental conditions and shall have appropriate protective coatings and finishes  

P
age 42



  

   

 

 The EC fans shall be ErP2015 compliant and IE3 efficiency class as a minimum 

 The EC fans shall comply with all relevant regulations, standards and industry codes of practice 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

The greatest uncertainty associated with this measure is the annual duty and associated consumption of the chiller. We note that a submeter is installed for 

the chiller plant and we intend to obtain and analyse this data as part of the Investment Grade Proposal. In addition, whilst the O&M information has allowed 

us to identify the make and type of chiller, the documentation does not identify the type of condenser fans used. As part of the Investment Grade Proposal, a 

more intrusive survey of the chillers will be necessary in order to confirm the exact model. Appropriate conservatisms have been built into the business case to 

cover any eventuality.       

P
age 43



  

   

 

ECM 06: Internal Lighting LED Lighting Upgrade 

Rationale 

General 

Lighting has been a key focal point for energy efficiency for many years, as it commonly contributes a substantial proportion to a building’s energy use and 

operational cost. Lighting technology continues to move forward, with a continual focus to improve the efficacy of lamps and luminaires to reduce power 

demands, and increase the level of sophistication of automated controls in order to avoid unnecessary usage. 

The advent of Light Emitting Diode (LED) technology has brought about a dramatic step change in energy efficiency in lighting. With the availability of cost-

effective LED technology, we are able to deliver a substantial reduction in energy demand and reduce the operational cost of the building. Automated controls, 

such as occupancy / absence detection and daylight sensing enables us to minimise unnecessary operation of lighting systems, without relying on user input. 

This, twinned with LED technology can result in associated electricity consumption savings in excess of 80%. 

For SCDC Hall 

As previously mentioned South Cambs Hall was built in circa 2003, for its time the array of T5, CFL & 2D fittings with a mixture of DALI dimming and occupancy 

sensing would’ve been considered extremely modern. The technology has since advanced and while the sensing and dimming capabilities will be retained, 

LED retrofit will yield surprising electricity savings compared to the existing fittings.  

We would like to propose a like for like retrofit e.g. swapping a 600x600 panel with an LED equivalent panel, which ensures that the same lighting provision 

is provided by the new LED fitting.   

There are a number of options that we could look at regarding LED Lighting upgrades, most of the light fittings at SCDC Hall is architectural twin T5 fittings 

which will not necessarily have a direct replacement that would be easy to retrofit into the existing aperture. This leaves us with the option of either re-lamping 

these fittings with LED tubes & changing the ballast to yield immediate energy savings or alternatively we could engage with our supply chain partners in order 

to design and supply a bespoke retrofit to install in place of the existing fittings.  

Outline Proposal 

We have reviewed SCDC’s lighting designs in order to formulate our proposals. We have carried out early engagement with our l ighting suppliers to discuss 

the feasibility of a bespoke solution for SCDC. We propose a full LED Lighting retrofit with the exception of the low energy consuming CFL fittings with PIR’s 

in the WCs due to a low payback, these can be included if desirable to SCDC. At the moment we have specified for bespoke fittings in place of the architectural 

T5’s however this may change as we continue to scour the market for the best possible solutions.  

We will use a clamp on ammeter and carry out pre and post installation tests to verify that the LED lighting is yielding the savings we had previously anticipated.  

P
age 44



  

   

 

Scope of Works 

 Prior to installation, lux tests will be carried out in various locations throughout the Hall that will provide baseline illuminance levels. We will carry out 

a second lux test after the installation to ensure these have been matched or exceeded.  

 The lighting circuits will be isolated before the existing fitting is removed 

 The new fitting shall be installed in the existing aperture and all making good shall be carried out  

 The existing fitting shall be removed from site and disposed in line with WEEE Regulations  

Specification Notes 

 Light fittings will be compatible with any lighting controls at SCDC including PIR’s & DALI dimming 

 The fittings specified shall either match or exceed the existing LUX levels 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

We have assumed that the existing lighting is fit for purpose and meets all current wiring and lighting regulations. The greatest uncertainty surrounding the 

proposed LED lighting retrofit is gathering sufficient information on the buildings occupancy. The motion sensing capability throughout South Cambs Hall will 

likely mean that different areas of the same floor will have different run hours, to overcome this we propose to install a number of sensors in the IGP stage in 
order to confirm the expected run hours of the LED Lighting  

P
age 45



  

   

 

ECM 07: Electric Vehicle Chargers 

Rationale 

General 

The last four years have seen a remarkable surge in demand for 

electric vehicles in the UK. New registrations of plug-in cars increased 

from 3,500 in 2013 to more than 195,000 by the end of January 2019. 

There has also been a significant increase in the number of pure-

electric and plug-in hybrid models available in the UK with many of 

the top manufacturers in the UK now offering a number of EVs as 

part of their model range. According to the Future Energy Scenarios 

published by National Grid, there could be as many as 36 million 

electric vehicles by 2030.  

According to UK Government figures, transport is now the largest 

contributor to greenhouse gas emissions at 26% (based on 2017 

figures). This is whilst energy supply emissions have fallen by over 

50% since 1990 levels. Whilst there have been substantial 

improvements in fossil-fuelled car efficiencies over this period, the 

number of cars on the road has almost doubled.  

Electrification of vehicles appears to be the way forward. So long as 

the grid continues to de-carbonise, the carbon efficiency of electric vehicles compared to that of comparative fossil-fuelled cars is minimal. Whilst hydrogen 

fuel cells may offer a medium to long-term alternative to electric batteries, there is great uncertainty over whether or not this will ever be sufficiently economical 

to sway the trend.  

Clearly, such enormous uptake in electric vehicles will place additional pressure on the electricity network. National Grid estimates that EV could lift the UK’s 

peak electricity demands by 5-8GW by 2030, which represents a rise of between 9-14% compared to 2017 levels. Hence, whilst there are unquestionable 

benefits to the ‘electrification of transport’, the means by which they are to be powered is of critical importance.  

 

For SCDC Hall 

As noted above, there is a 4,000m2 staff and visitor car park at SCDC Hall. From our observations and discussions with building occupants, this car park 

appears to be highly utilised throughout the year. Hence, given the increase in electric vehicles, it seems highly likely that there will be a natural demand for 

EV charging facilities. 

P
age 46



  

   

 

Through conversations with key SCDC representatives, it is understood that there is broad support for the electrification of transport and, that SCDC wishes 

to promote uptake in the community. Hence, it seems appropriate to consider means of incentivising staff and visitors to make the switch.  

It is assumed that many vehicles are left in the car park for the duration of the working day, hence presenting a good opportunity to recharge batteries. This 

negates the need for ‘rapid chargers’ (>20kW), which means that fast chargers (7-20kW) may be more suitable. Installation of EV chargers opens up broader 

potential future opportunities in the provision of transportation for SCDC, such as pool car provision or private hire. 

Integration of electric vehicle charging facilities with the proposed solar car port system provides a convenient means of charging EV with renewable energy 

generated on site. Consequently, this means that the impact of EV charging placed on the electricity network is minimised.  

   

Outline Proposal 

We propose the integration of suitable electrical infrastructure and car port design features to facilitate electric vehicle chargers. This means that SCDC will be 

able to introduce EV chargers in lieu of increases in demand in future.  

We also propose the introduction of four 3-phase 11kW smart fast chargers. These chargers will be compatible with the majority of today’s electric vehicles 

and will be equipped with an IEC 62196 Socket with the Mode3 charging standard. The chargers shall be mounted to the column of the EV car port structure 

and shall be connected to the site’s AC electrical distribution infrastructure via the AC distribution board mounted to the end of the car port.  

The EV chargers shall be Wifi enabled, to allow remote access and connectivity to EV apps, such as Zap Map or Ecotricity. This will also allow future integration 

with the site’s energy management systems, to optimise power output with availability of renewable electricity. Note, whilst this has not been incorporated to 

the scope and specification of the current proposal, it is our intention to investigate options to integrate solutions as part of the Investment Grade Proposal.  

It is noted that we have not incorporated any financial savings or costs associated with the EV chargers, on the premise that SCDC will be able to pass through 

electricity consumption and operational costs to the consumers. Also, we have not incorporated any increases in electricity demands, as we are unable to 

quantify (or guarantee) the usage associated with the chargers. Accordingly, this measure is a ‘cost’ to the project only.        

Scope of Works 

 Inclusion of suitable electrical infrastructure and car port design features to accommodate proposed and future fast EV chargers 

 Supply and installation of four 11kW EV chargers 

 Provision of suitable wifi infrastructure to accommodate for EV chargers 

 Commissioning and testing of the four EV chargers 

 

P
age 47



  

   

 

Specification Notes 

 The EV chargers shall be capable of delivering up to 11kW of charging power 

 The EV chargers shall be equipped with an IEC 62196 Socket 

 The EV chargers shall be wifi enabled, to allow ‘pay as you go’ charging, remote communication with charging apps and future integration with energy 

management systems 

 The EV chargers shall be column mounted type, so as to allow integration with the car ports 

 The EV chargers shall conform to LVD 2014/35/EU, EMCD 2014/30/EU, EN 61851 -1 and 22, as well as all applicable BSEN standards and regulations 

 The EV chargers shall be CE Certified 

Key Assumptions & Risks 

There are no major risks or assumptions associated 

with this measure, other than that set out in ECM 

01. However, it is acknowledged that the EV 

chargers may require connection to the site’s Local 

Area Network and it is assumed that SCDC’s ICT 

department will support us in devising an 

arrangement to make suitable secure connections. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 48



  

   

 

OTHER ECM CONCEPTS FOR CONSIDERATION 

The below section provides a summary of the other measures that have been considered for inclusion in the High Level 

Assessment but have subsequently been omitted. This may have been due to incompatibilities with other ECMs, technical 

or commercial uncertainties, or less favourable economics. Whilst excluded from the base HLA, we would be keen to 

discuss these concepts with SCDC, to obtain an understanding of whether or not there is interest in pursuing further as 

part of the Investment Grade Proposal. For the avoidance of doubt, the costs and savings associated with these measures 

have not been included in the High Level Business Case. 

    

20kW Gas Fired Combined Heat & Power unit (CHP) 

Combined Heat and Power (CHP) is the onsite generation of electricity, and utilisation of the heat that is created in the process and which would otherwise be 

wasted. 

CHP systems are far more efficient than fossil-fuelled power stations. This is because conventional gas or coal fired power stations waste the heat they 

generate, whereas a CHP system’s waste heat is recovered and used on site. The fuel conversion efficiency of a power station is ~40%, whereas a CHP may 

yield over 85%. The economic benefit of CHP technology has driven technical development and innovation.  

Small-scale CHP, as proposed here, takes the form of a gas-fired engine, driving an electrical generator, whose output is grid-synchronised to permit connection 

to the site’s main electricity network. Heat is removed from the engine jacket and exhaust gases by circulating water, which is diverted from the chosen 

existing boiler system. 

Widespread UK rollout has proven CHP as a means of delivering carbon and cost savings. As electricity is typically between 4 and 5 times the price of gas, on-

site conversion of perhaps 25-35% of energy held in the gas to electricity can be highly economically attractive, so long as the heat generated in the process 

may be utilised on site. Whilst recent figures published by BEIS show that mains electricity carbon emissions have reduced (thanks largely to renewables and 

low carbon generation such as this), a significant difference between CHP-generated electricity and mains electricity remains (0.184kgCO2/kg compared with 

0.3kgCO2/kg respectively).   

The economic business case for small-scale CHP relies on: 

• Electricity and gas tariff differential (the “spark gap”) 

• Constant electrical and heat energy demands onsite 

• Technical feasibility (size, location, existing infrastructure) 

Other issues to consider include maintenance, lifecycle and licensing costs, future fuel price projections, etc. Detailed investigation has been undertaken to 

identify the actual gas and electricity demand offsets based on the CHP’s operating characteristics and design, and the site’s energy profile. 

P
age 49



  

   

 

Analysis of the site’s half-hourly electricity data revealed a relatively high base load of circa 50kWe. However, 

the site’s thermal demand (i.e. gas consumption) varies heavily over the course of the year. This is due to a 

relatively low domestic hot water load and high space heating demand i.e. the seasonally dependent loads. 

Consequently, the CHP would need to be sized to meet the thermal loads and not electrical, so as to avoid 

oversizing and excessive heat generation.   

Notwithstanding, our analysis suggests that there is an opportunity to install a small gas fired CHP. We arrived 

at a 20kWe CHP being the ‘best fit’ for the Hall, as it would be able to operate continuously outside of the 

summer and occasionally during summer as well. As a consequence of a very large ‘spark gap’, this measure is 

reasonably economically attractive, with a payback period of just over 7 ½ years.  

The CHP would be sited in the existing plantroom, taking the place of the existing domestic hot water gas boiler. 

The CHP would be accompanied by a small buffer vessel to ensure smooth operation. The pipework and pumping 

configuration would be incorporated into the existing infrastructure, so as to ensure that the CHP is able to act 

as lead heat source. Electrical connection would be made at the existing 3-phase supply control panel within 

the boilerhouse. Suitable modifications will be made to the G59 relay switching arrangement in the main 

electrical incomer switchroom. A new high temperature flue would exit at high level and terminate at equal 

height to that of the existing gas boilers.   

The CHP’s control system would interface with the BEMS (via ModBus), allowing the BEMS to supervise the CHP 

and make decisions on how best to operate the boilers to maximise CHP run time. The CHP’s control system will continually monitor the mains demand of the 

site, so as to avoid export of surplus electricity during periods of low mains import. 

It is expected that the proposed CHP could generate circa 15% of the site’s electricity needs and offset circa 10% of the heat demand placed on the gas boilers.  

Our reasons for excluding this measure from the scope of works are (a) impacts to the viability of the solar car ports, due to surplus generation, (b) the fact 

that CHP still relies on fossil fuel – whilst gas currently has a lower carbon content than mains electricity, this may change in the next few years, (c) technical 

challenges in moving the CHP to the roof-top plantroom.       

Lithium Ion Battery Energy Storage System 

Lithium Ion battery technology has reached a point where it is feasible to install large battery systems to charge and discharge in accordance with local, regional 

and national grid supply and demand profiles. The recent influx of renewable energy sources onto the electricity network has made it very difficult to predict 

how much electricity will be generated at any given point and thus, battery storage has the potential to act as a ‘buffer’, smoothening the supply with demand. 

This ability to store and discharge electricity on demand is likely to become increasingly important, if we are to succeed in decarbonising the grid.  

P
age 50



  

   

 

Irrespective of the impact of renewables, battery storage has proven to work as a means of stabilising the electricity network and has been able to access a 

variety of lucrative ‘grid services’ markets. These include ‘Firm Frequency Response’, ‘Capacity Market’, ‘Balancing Mechanisms’ and ‘TRIAD’. The last couple of 

years has seen a monumental increase in installed capacity, due to the economic business cases being very attractive. Unfortunately, the market has shifted 

in recent months and many of the revenues previously available to battery storage have been cut or scrapped.  

However, the technological advancements and increase in global manufacturing has created other markets and facilitated new applications. In the case of 

SCDC Hall, the application we investigated was ‘behind the meter’, in which the battery energy storage system is integrated into the building’s electricity 

infrastructure. The benefits that the battery energy storage system may offer are (a) the ability to store surplus renewable electricity that would otherwise be 

exported to the grid and, (b) the ability to charge during low mains electricity tariff periods and discharge at high tariff periods. This is referred to as ‘arbitrage’, 

where the battery essentially works in a similar way to a storage heater.  

Using the models that we developed for the car port PV system, we were able to analyse the volume of surplus electricity, both for the 120kW option and 

275kW option. This enabled us to quantify the capacity of storage required to avoid export. In parallel, we undertook a market analysis to identify potential 

technologies and suppliers, establish installation and operational costs and technical requirements. Our analysis concluded that the peak export volumes that 

occur on peak summer weekends are of a magnitude that would require a significant battery capacity, which would be disproportionate to the building’s 

electricity demands and would be prohibitively costly. Hence, we sought to establish the most economical capacity i.e. the shortest payback option. 

We arrived at a 130kWh 100kW Lithium Ion packages energy storage system as being the best fit. Whilst this system would be capable of recovering 

approximately 1/3 of surplus renewable electricity, our analysis suggests that the payback period would be somewhat longer than the battery system’s lifespan 

and marginally longer than the overall project payback (thus extending the overall payback when included). 

We would be keen to undertake more detailed analysis and engage further with our industry-leading supply-chain, with a view to establishing an economical 

solution to incorporate battery storage. Hence, our reason for excluding this measure at this initial stage is that we have been unable to develop an economically 

viable solution. 

  

  

P
age 51



  

   

 

15kW Wind Turbine 

Alongside our development of the solar car port solution, we have investigated options for wind power, an alternative form of renewable energy generation 

that converts the mechanical energy held in wind into useful electricity. There are several distinct benefits to wind power over solar, namely that the generation 

profile is different, albeit equally unpredictable i.e. a wind turbine may generate electricity during night-time and throughout the year. A suitably sized wind 

turbine may offer an opportunity to compliment the solar PV installed on site and proposed.  

We have undertaken a review of the half-hourly electricity consumption data for the Hall building, to establish a target capacity based on the building’s ‘base 

load’ (the average daily low demand). We have also considered the local topology and the visual and environmental impact that a wind turbine might have. 

Our logic was that a system with a height no greater than the surrounding buildings may be viewed as more favourably by relevant stakeholders. 

Unlike solar PV, the capacity of the wind turbine is determined in manufacture and cannot be 

multiplied to optimise with a site’s needs. In other words, whilst we can add or subtract the 

number of solar PV panels to arrive at an ideal capacity, with wind, we must select a single turbine 

(or perhaps two) that best aligns with the application. In addition, it is important to ensure that 

the correct ‘class’ (IEC 61400-2) of wind turbine is selected, which characterises the wind speed 

range in which the wind turbine is able to function and the profile of power output against wind 

speeds within this range.  

Historically, the demand for small-scale / low voltage wind turbines has been far less than that of 

solar PV and, as this is a comparatively small market, there are less manufacturers and suppliers 

and consequently fewer technology options available. As a result, and factoring all of the above 

constraints, there are just a few wind turbines available on the market that have the potential to 

be feasible for the Hall.  

Our concept is based on the installation of a 12kW Class IV wind turbine. The turbine is designed 

to operate in comparatively low average windspeeds of 6m/s, which aligns with that observed in 

Cambridgeshire. The turbine would have an 18m tower and a total maximum height of 25m. The 

system would be capable of generating electricity in wind speeds between between 2m/s and 

14m/s and able to withstand sustained gusts of up to 42m/s. The peak power output is 12kW, 

which aligns well with the site’s baseload i.e. there is no risk of surplus power being generated, 

all will be consumed on site.      

Whilst subject to further discussion with SCDC, we would propose that the turbine be mounted to 

the North Westerly edge of the car park area. This area is selected due to the fact that it would 

P
age 52



  

   

 

not cast shadows on the Hall or surrounding buildings, thus is less likely to cause nuisance when operational (the ‘flicker’ effect of the moving shadows). By 

positioning the turbine away from the building, the wind is unobstructed.   

Unfortunately, like solar PV, the Feed In Tariffs currently available for wind turbine installations is to end in April 2019. Consequently, installations after this 

date will not receive any subsidies.  

Whilst we are very keen to investigate this measure further, our rationales for excluding it at this stage are (a) the visual impact and potential environmental 

impact, (b) the consequent likely complexities in planning and, (c) uncertainties in the potential energy generation interactions between the proposed solar PV 

car ports and the turbine. With regard to the latter, this may be clarified through detailed energy studies, which may be undertaken as part of the Investment 

Grade Proposal.  

 

 

  P
age 53



  

   

 

OPPORTUNITIES TO INCORPORATE LOCAL ENERGY CONSUMERS 

An objective that was set out in the Project Brief was to consider additional opportunities that may be available as a result of site locality, including location on 

Cambourne Business Park and in close proximity to the Cambourne Village College site. This may include, for example, the sale of energy generated by within 

the Hall site, or incorporating energy conservation measures to other properties in the area to serve the Hall.  

Cambourne Business Park 

The Cambourne Business Park is a cluster of modern serviced offices, leased to a range of organisations. There are currently six main office buildings, a hotel 

and the Hall building. When fully developed, the business park will offer a total of 750,000sqft gross internal area. There appears to be one building in 

development to be constructed, referred to as Building 4010, which will provide the final 45,000sqft of office space. Additional plots 3000, 5000 and 6000 are 

earmarked in master-planning for development, although no details were found on the scope of this development.  

The Hall sits in the Westerly end of the existing park, with approximately 130m 

between the Hall and the nearest building (2030). The proposed Building 4010 would 

sit between Building 2030 and the Hall.  

Our initial judgment is that there may well be an opportunity to extend the scope of 

the project to incorporate the business park into the scope of the scheme. 

Opportunities may include, for example, the installation of a larger GSHP to act as 

a central energy centre, serving renewable heat to the other offices via a Heat 

Network. However, the increase in heat pump capacity would necessitate the 

installation of a more sizeable ground heat exchanger – at this scale, it may be 

necessary to consider ‘open loop’ ground source, in which groundwater is utilised 

for heat abstraction.  

The proposed solar car port system is not of a scale or capacity that would warrant 

interconnection with other buildings. Whilst there will be a relatively small surplus 

of electricity to export, connection would be complex, owing to regulatory 

constraints. However, there appears to be an excellent opportunity to install solar 

PV elsewhere on the business park, both as solar car ports and conventional rooftop. There is a multitude of unshaded flat roofspace, which on first observation 

looks ideal for solar. Several car park areas offer an opportunity for south-facing car ports, accepting that the main car park to the north of the main park may 

suffer from shading from the office buildings.  

We would be extremely interested in exploring these opportunities further. However, due to the lack of technical information and energy data available on the 

Image courtesy of 

Cambourne Business Park 

P
age 54



  

   

 

business park, and indeed the objectives and aspirations of the landlord and tenants, it has not been possible to incorporate the business park in the scope of 

the High Level Assessment. If SCDC shares our interest in exploring this opportunity further, it is suggested that a meeting with the relevant stakeholders is 

organised to discuss the potential measures and obtain a knowledge of their objectives and interest in collaboration.  

Cambourne Village College 

Cambourne Village College sits approximately 300m to the West of the Hall building. The College is operated by Cam Academy Trust (CAT), who manage 

several schools and colleges across Cambridgeshire. Unlike the business park, Bouygues E&S has an established relationship with CAT and, coincidentally is 

currently in the process of delivering an energy performance contract at Cambourne Village College via the RE:FIT Framework. Consequently, we have a good 

understanding of the campus, both in terms of energy infrastructure and demand, as well as direct engagement with decision makers.  

The College has a population of just over 1,000 pupils and 120 staff. This population has been steadily increasing since it opened in 2013. As the site is relatively 

new, the energy infrastructure is by and large in line with current standards energy. The site is served by a 30kW solar PV system, although this only contributes 

a small fraction toward the site’s electricity import. The heating system is served by two gas boiler plantrooms, which have a collective capacity of over 1MW 

(substantially more than that at SCDC Hall). A small air source heat pump acts to pre-heat the domestic hot water, although as with the PV, the overall 

contribution is relatively minimal. Although we are unable to provide details of the site’s current energy spend (due to confidentiality), we can indicate that this 

is of a scale that warrants consideration for inclusion within the scope of the scheme.   

As a consequence of local population growth and projected increases in pupil enrolment, the Trust plans to extend the site to the North East of the existing 

building. The proposed new buildings would sit to the West of the Hall, at a shorted distance than that of the existing building. Hence, energy infrastructure 

connections with this new build would be shorted and hence, comparatively economical.  

Whilst provisions for including Cambourne Village College 

does not form part of the base business case, due to the 

complexity and cost of the scheme, we do foresee an 

excellent opportunity to incorporate the College and 

proposed new build into the scope of this project. This is 

with particular regard to the sharing of heat via a heating 

main, connecting the energy centre with the college’s 

heating infrastructure.  

As indicated for the business park, it may prove to be 

commercially viable to increase the scale of the energy 

centre to provide sufficient capacity to export heat to the 

college under a ‘heat purchase arrangement’ (HPA).  

P
age 55



  

   

 

Via this arrangement, SCDC would sell the renewable heat generated by the energy centre to the College at a rate that is commercially favourable for both 

parties. SCDC would benefit from this additional income, as well as the RHI payments, whilst the College benefits from marginally lower energy costs, improved 

resilience and lower carbon emissions.  

Should South Cambs District Council wish to explore these opportunities to incorporate either Cambourne Academy or 

Cambourne Business Park into the scope of the investigation, we would need to discuss arrangements for development 

and inclusion in the Investment Grade Proposal.  

     

  

 

 

  

P
age 56



  

   

 

FURTHER READING 

THE HLA KEY PARAMETERS 

As set out above, the overarching purpose of the High Level Assessment is to 
set the ‘goalposts’ or ‘Key Parameters’ upon which Bouygues E&S commits to 

improve at the Investment Grade Proposal stage. For the avoidance of doubt, 
these parameters are set out on the table to the right and are set for the entire 

portfolio, as opposed to the individual site (as the contract is across the 

portfolio). Should Bouygues E&S be unable to improve upon these Key 
Parameters, SCDC may elect not to proceed to the subsequent delivery stages 

and not to pay the Investment Grade Proposal fee. Should Bouygues E&S fail 
to meet these key parameters and yet SCDC still decides to proceed to 

implementation, Bouygues E&S remains eligible to collect the IGP fees.  
 

These Key Parameters have been carefully selected on the proviso that they bind Bouygues E&S to improve the business case, without inhibiting our freedom 

to identify better opportunities, or enhance those which have already been selected.  
 

Should SCDC wish to vary the scope of 
works to include other measures that 

might impact Bouygues E&S’ ability to 

meet the key parameters (such as the 
inclusion of long-term lifecycle projects), 

Bouygues E&S will seek to agree a 
reasonable and proportionate variation 

to these key parameters with SCDC, so 
as to afford the necessary freedom and 

flexibility of the programme, without 

assuming undue commercial risk. 
 

If SCDC wishes to include other key 
parameters, Bouygues E&S would be 

delighted to discuss these requirements 

and include if agreeable to both parties.   

PORTFOLIO KEY PARAMETERS 

Key Parameters Value Criteria 

Payback Period 9.54 Years  No greater than 

Energy Savings 1,540,198 kW No less than 

 

P
age 57



  

   

 

THE SAVINGS GUARANTEE 

As aforementioned, the energy savings and renewable energy generation set out in the Investment Grade Proposal business case 

will be guaranteed by Bouygues E&S under the RE:FIT Energy Performance Contract. These ‘Savings Guarantees’ are based on 

the energy volume (kWh) and exist for the duration of the Payback Period.   

In accordance with the framework, Bouygues E&S will be required to remunerate SCDC for any shortfalls between the actual 

savings and the Savings Guarantee in any ‘Contract Year’. The remuneration is calculated by multiplying the shortfall by the relevant 

energy tariff, as set out in the IGP business case. Conversely, Bouygues E&S will not be entitled to claim payment for any surpluses, 

unless we have previously paid a penalty for a shortfall in a previous Contract Year (this surplus claim is capped at the value of 

the shortfall payments).  

Accordingly, Bouygues E&S is incentivised to be reasonably conservative and cautious in our savings calculations and thus, we 

expect the savings expectations to be exceeded. The process for evaluating savings and accommodating for changes that inevitably 

occur during the lifetime of the project is referred to as Measurement & Verification, as described below.  

 

MEASUREMENT & VERIFICATION 

Measurement & Verification (M&V) shall be undertaken by Bouygues E&S to evaluate the savings and make reasonable 

adjustments to account for change. It is essential that this process is transparent, impartial, accurate and repeatable, so 

as to ensure that all parties can have absolute confidence in the reported performance. Bouygues E&S’ M&V approach 

follows the International Performance Measurement & Verification Protocol (IPMVP), a leading global standard for M&V. 

The IPMVP sets out protocols for planning measurement techniques, application of routine and non-routine adjustments 

and reporting performance. Our senior engineers are certified to the IPMVP and have a duty to ensure that Bouygues E&S 

maintains compliance.   

Routine and non-routine adjustments may be made to the savings guarantees to accommodate for changes that occur 

during the monitoring period. For example, a routine adjustment may be applied to thermal energy savings calculations 

to accommodate for seasonal variations – in the event of an extremely mild winter, it may be expected that less thermal 

energy is required for heating, whereas, in an extremely cold winter, more thermal energy will be required. The routine 

adjustment essentially ‘keeps us on the hook’. A non-routine adjustment may be applied to the savings guarantee when 

an unpredictable or unexpected change occurs that has an impact in energy performance. Examples might include a 

change in occupancy hours, change in building structure or utilities failure.  

The security of a 

public procurement 

framework and 

Local Authority 

Backing 

We utilise energy 

management software 

to monitor the 

performance of the 

project. This software 

is made available to our 

clients to help them to 

manage their energy 

use.  

P
age 58



  

   

 

In adhering to the IPMVP, we are able to offer any plans or reports to independent specialists for ratification, should this 

ever be required. As part of the governance and review processes, Local Partnerships reviews our M&V plans and reports, 

to ensure adherence with the framework and protocol.  

We acknowledge that our clients are often unfamiliar with this industry-specific practice and are able to provide specific 

training sessions or workshops to empower clients. This is typically provided during the IGP phase.   

 

CLARIFICATIONS & ASSUMPTIONS 

There are several assumptions that drive the business case. In the spirit of maintaining transparency, we would like to 

share these assumptions to ensure that all parties are absolutely clear. Whilst the RE:FIT Energy Performance Contracting 

model provides effective risk transferral, in terms of energy performance, design, installation and commissioning risks, it 

is acknowledged that there are certain limitations. We have prepared a risk register that identifies the technical risks 

associated with the specific project at SCDC. 

IGP Benchmarking: Bouygues are required as part of the framework to achieve the key performance parameters set 

out in the business case of the HLA (HLA Business case ‘Project Outcomes’ tab). These are the minimum energy savings 

(kW) and the maximum payback period (yrs). This means that for ‘like-for-like’ scope of works we cannot reduce the 

associated savings or increase the stated payback for the same ECM’s.  

Energy Tariffs & Inflationary Factors: We have used those set out in the original framework tender procurement. 

These tariffs drive the cost savings and hence, the payback and cash flow calculations. It is therefore important that they 

are at least reflective of what is actually paid, even though they will inevitably differ in the years to come.  

Carbon Taxes: Aside from those levies incorporated into the above energy tariffs, we have made no allowances for any 

savings associated with carbon taxes, such as Carbon Reduction Commitment. Should SCDC wish to incorporate any 

additional savings, Bouygues E&S is able to incorporate them into the business case for illustration purposes.  

 

Renewable Energy Incentives: any renewable energy subsidy tariffs, such as Feed In Tariffs, Renewable Heat 

Incentives or export tariffs are estimated based on that applicable at expected time of registration and are to the best of 

our knowledge at the time of creating the business case. Where available, these rates are based on projections published 

by UK Government or reputable industry experts. However, the rates are subject to change, due to change in UK 

Government policy.   

Improved 

thermal 

comfort 

 

Measured & 

Reported 

Savings 

 

Renewable 

Energy 

 

Improved 

Image 

 

Reduced 

Maintenance 

Costs 

 

 

P
age 59



  

   

 

Maintenance Savings & Costs: As a rule, Bouygues E&S incorporates budgets for any additional maintenance duties 

born by our projects into our business cases, so as to provide a robust commercial model. However, we do not account 

for any maintenance or lifecycle savings, which, in many cases may be considerable (as any asset replacements may often 

result in a replenished lifecycle or elongated maintenance intervals), as they cannot be guaranteed. Should SCDC wish to 

account for such savings, Bouygues E&S is able to incorporate them into the business case for illustration purposes.  

Existing Maintenance Provision: It is assumed that appropriate maintenance provisions are in place for all existing 

assets and that maintenance is undertaken in line with statutory requirements and manufacturer’s instructions.  

Maintenance of new equipment: It is assumed that SCDC will undertake maintenance of the new equipment in line 

with manufacturer’s requirements. Although Bouygues E&S is a leading Facilities Management services provider, we do 

not typically take on maintenance responsibilities for this type of energy performance contract. Notwithstanding, Bouygues 

E&S will provide full support in setting up any new or modified maintenance services for the energy conservation measures 

as part of our ‘soft landings’ and handover process.  

Value Added Tax (VAT): VAT is omitted from our business case, as it is assumed that SCDC is able to recover any VAT 

charges.   

Access to Site for Installation: We assume that installation may be undertaken during normal working hours, accepting 

that this is subject to coordination with site activities. We have assume that installation will be relatively uninterrupted and 

that any clearing of spaces (such as removal of furniture) will be undertaken by SCDC.  

Information provided by SCDC: It is assumed that SCDC’s management team will provide all relevant and available 

information to Bouygues E&S to enable the preparation of a robust proposal.  

Pre-existing Technical Issues: It is recognised that this project will require the adaptation of / modification to / co-

reliance with existing assets. As engineering professionals, Bouygues E&S recognises our general duty of care to endeavour 

to identify any issues with extant assets that might jeopardise the success of the project, or failure to comply with 

legislative, regulatory or best practice requirements. Notwithstanding, Bouygues E&S cannot take responsibility for any 

pre-existing issues with the site or assets that do not form part of our scope of works, unless our proposal specifically 

identifies that resolution of the issue forms part of the scope of works. It is advised that SCDC makes Bouygues E&S aware 

of any known issues, so as to ensure that we can take appropriate actions to accommodate for them as part of the IGP 

development.  

BREXIT: Appropriate provisions shall be made within the contracts to manage the potential impacts of Brexit on the 

business case. SCDC and Bouygues E&S will seek agreement on these provisions as part of the Investment Grade Proposal 

Services Agreement.   

 

 

Green 

technology 

 

Reduced 

Carbon 

Emissions 

 

P
age 60



  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bouygues E&S UK 

Future Business Centre 

Cambridge 

CB4 2HY 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



URBAN TREE CHALLENGE- A DRAFT PROPOSAL FROM THE TREES AND DESIGN 
ACTION GROUP FOR DISCUSSION 

Overview
At a meeting about the Defra Urban Tree Challenge (and Defra consultation response - 
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/forestry/protecting-trees-and-woodlands/ ) in Birmingham 
on 8th January 2019, part of the discussion was about the urban street tree challenge - 
£10 million over 3 years to be match-funded (in both cash and kind) to plant 1 million 
urban trees.

Keith Sacre, Barcham Trees and Jeremy Barrell, Barrell Tree Consultancy and both TDAG 
trustees, were at the meeting and at a table with Sir William Worsley, the Defra Tree 
Champion. They put forward the idea that, instead of spreading the funds equally across 
the country, it would be useful to apportion part of that fund to an exemplar project. Sir 
William talked in terms of c. £2 million of the fund for this.

In response the Trees and Design Action Group have proposed a ‘living laboratory’ where 
the impact of planting trees could be assessed over time and measured against agreed 
criteria covering physical, social/educational and economic outcomes. Of course all this 
would need to be recorded on a scientific basis.

This ambitious project could be ground-breaking and have international as well as 
national benefits creating a model which others could then follow. It would deliver more 
than planting a few trees in many small and scattered sites across the country. This has 
been the outcome of previous well intentioned central and local government initiatives to 
encourage tree planting. Little has been learned as a result of these schemes.

We consider that Cambridge/South Cambridgeshire would provide a very good location 
for a ‘living laboratory’ approach as it demonstrates many elements that are typical of 
many towns and cities i.e. areas of affluence and tree cover and areas of deprivation and 
lack of tree cover, areas of new development along with the need to improve existing 
places where lack of tree cover and social deprivation appear to be linked.

There is already some good base data for the area to work from.

What could this approach achieve?

1. Scale: there is a lot of well publicised research about the benefits of urban trees, 
but this project would enable the benefits to be tested at a larger scale than most 
of the research carried out to date and thus providing an evidence base for future 
initiatives and an understanding of what works and what doesn’t. 

2. Physical tree related issues: there is much that we still need to understand 
about urban trees and how best to grow, select, plant and manage them to 
deliver the promised benefits over time This project would enable a range of 
practices to be scientifically tested in the field and the outcomes measured.

3. Environmental benefits: i-Tree Eco is a methodology for quantifying a range of 
eco-systems services provided by trees. This project would reverse the process 
and establish critical benefits required in different areas and so plant trees to 
deliver them and then test the results. This would cover areas such as air quality, 
carbon sequestration, urban cooling, sustainable urban drainage, shade provision 
and many more. 

4. Social benefits: there is much talk about placemaking and the benefits of living 
in areas with good levels of canopy cover, with tree-lined streets which encourage 
walking and active travel and so improve health and well-being. Is it reasonable 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



in the 21st century, when we know about these benefits, for some people to live 
in areas of ‘green deprivation’? What does it mean for communities when the 
quality of their places is improved? What health factors improve? Are there other 
measurable improvements? This project would enable some useful before and 
after data as an evidence base for the value of planting trees throughout our 
towns and cities. By carefully assessing current health indicators such as 
prescription use, obesity levels, diabetes levels, birth weight it will be possible to 
measure if these change as the urban forest grows. Research has indicated that 
these and many other health issues can be positively impacted by the urban 
forest.

5. Economic benefits: we know that there are increases in property value in areas 
with more canopy cover and, indeed, the phrase ‘tree-lined street’ is one of the 
estate agent’s selling points. Research has also demonstrated that tree lined 
streets can strengthen the retail economy, especially the high street, by 
encouraging greater footfall, longer time spent in the shopping area and greater 
per head spend. There is also evidence that exposure to green space, including 
views of trees and canopies enhances concentration and productivity. As with 
above-mentioned evidence findings, most of the research on these topics from 
abroad, especially the USA. Gathering UK relevant information would facilitate 
much needed enhanced integration of economic growth/regeneration and 
environmental enhancement initiatives.

6. Crime and Behaviour: there is a great deal of research, largely from the USA 
which indicates that the presence of trees and green space can have an impact in 
reducing anti-social behaviour and the incidence of street crime. There is also 
evidence which suggests that the presence of trees in can impact on educational 
attainment.

The above is not intended to be fully comprehensive but serves to outline the potential 
of setting up a living laboratory where the ideas, working practices and past and current 
research can be tested on a large scale over a meaningful time period. It also offers the 
opportunity for full community and stakeholder involvement as well as engaging the 
academic and research communities across disciplines.

As a precedent, it is worth noting that some of the best performing metropolitan areas 
across the world in terms of scaling up the use of urban trees to create better places 
(Greater Lyon, France; Melbourne, Australia; Stockholm, Sweden; etc.) all have in 
common the use of “research and development” programmes – where a significant 
proportion of all major projects is allocated, on an annual basis, to innovation, 
monitoring and learning.  As an example, the Greater Lyon Authority focuses on three 
research themes:

- Soils / growing media for urban trees
- Coping with temperature rise (using trees for more climate resilience / how to 

adapt the plant palette to a changing climate)
- Using trees for water management

See page 52, Greater Lyon Tree Charter for more details.

The proposal would be led by Cambridge City Council, South Cambridgeshire Council 
with other relevant community and academic partners.

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Bourn Airfield Planning Application
	Bourn Airfield Infographics

	6 SCDC Investment in Green Energy - Update
	Appendix A SCDC-HLA-Halls-110219-FD01

	7 Cambridge and South Cambs Tree Planting Proposal



